

Maynooth University School of Law and Criminology

Declaration on Plagiarism

I hereby certify that this material, which I now submit for assessment on the programme of study leading to the award of MA Comparative Criminology and Criminal Justice is entirely my own work and has not been taken from the work of others save and to the extent that such work has been cited and acknowledged within the text of my work.

Student Name: Kate Daly

Student Number:19456812

Date: 29th October 2023

Student Signature: Kate Daly

1

Divergence or Convergence in Models of Youth Justice from legislation to 2023? – A Comparison between New Zealand and Ireland.

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of MA in Comparative Criminology and Criminal Justice

Kate Daly

19456812

Supervisor: Dr. Etain Quigley

Maynooth University

Department of Law



Contents

CHAPTER 1	: INTRODUCTION	6
1.1.	What is youth justice	6
1.2.	Policy Transfer	
1.3.	Shared Ideological Approach between Ireland and New Zealand	7
1.4.	The models that underpin youth justice and the implications of them	8
1.4.1.	Just Deserts/Justice	
1.4.2.	Welfare	10
1.4.3.	Restorative	10
1.4.4.	Actuarial	11
1.5.	This dissertation	12
CHAPTER 2	: LITERATURE REVIEW	13
2.1.	Influences on legislation and policy	13
2.2.	New Zealand - Oranga Tamariki Act/ The Children, Young Persons and Their Fa	amilies Act
1989	14	
2.3.	Ireland – The Children Act 2001	14
2.4.	Key Aspects of the Oranga Tamariki Act 1989 and the Children Act 2001 and mo 15	dels of justice.
2.4.1.	Age of Criminal Responsibility	15
2.4.2.	Youth Court	17
2.4.3.	Diversion	19
2.4.4.	Family involvement	22
CHAPTER 3	: METHODOLOGY	28
3.1.	Aims	28
<i>3.2.</i>	Methods	28
3.2.1.	Literature review	29
3.2.2.	Thematic Analysis	35
CHAPTER 4	: DISCUSSION	42
4.1.	Age of Criminal Responsibility	42
4.2.	Young Peoples Needs	44
<i>4.3.</i>	Interagency approach	45
4.4.	Diversion	46
4.5.	Traditional Justice Agencies	47
4.6.	FGCs in New Zealand	47
<i>4.7.</i>	Restorative and Victims	48
4.8.	Actuarial	49
CHAPTER 5	: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	52
REFERENCE	S	56
ADDENIDIV	•	CO

List of Abbreviations

CRC United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child

JLO Juvenile Liaison Officer

AOD Alcohol and other drugs

BOBF Better Outcomes Brighter Futures

GDP Garda Diversion Programme

IYJS Irish Youth Justice System

NZ New Zealand

FGC Family Group Conference

2001 Act Children Act 2001

1989 Act Oranga Tamariki Act/ The Children, Young Persons and Their

Families Act 1989

PYD Police Youth Diversion

YJS The Youth Justice Strategy 2021-2027

YCAP Youth Crime Action Plan 2013-2023

YJAP Youth Justice Action Plan 2014-2018

DPP Director of Public Prosecutions

Abstract

Within the context of youth justice being an area of much political and public debate, and with increasing globalisation and policy transfer youth justice is important to analyse and assess in terms of systems functions. Irelands' youth justice legislation, took influence from the innovative youth justice system of New Zealand. This resulted in an altering model of youth justice within Ireland and New Zealand away from a strict welfare model. The focus increased justice-based elements of holding children and young people responsible for their offending behaviour, while maintaining a welfare ethos, including attention to victims needs. Due to this approach being innovative, and attracting significant international attention, this research aims to assess if the models of youth justice have changed in Ireland and New Zealand since the relevant legislation in 1989 in New Zealand and 2001 in Ireland, up to policy in 2023. The examination, guided by the underlying models of justice relevant to these youth justice systems, will highlight the innovative approaches' progress, and journeys in New Zealand and Ireland.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. What is youth justice

In most societies, young people are not held to the same standards as adults before the law (Hartjen, 2008). The expectations of, and treatment of young offenders is usually related generally to biological age, with different ages of criminal responsibility and cut off ages globally (Hartjen, 2008). Youth justice, refers to offending by young people, however the exact ages included in this differ between countries. The youth justice system was initially formed based on the premise that children, due to their developmental immaturity, are less culpable for their actions than adults (Hinton et al., 2007; Steinberg, 2009). These principles highlight the belief that along with a need to protect the public, there is a duty to intervene in the lives of young offenders, or those at risk to promote prosocial and wellbeing for the young people (April et al., 2022). The capabilities of children and young people are generally influenced by impulsivity, (Weijers, 2004), and are less risk averse than adults (Scott & Grisso, 2004). Children and young people usually focus on short term effects of their actions and decisions, with less focus on long term implications of their behaviour (Scott & Grisso, 2004). This immaturity may impact offending behaviour due to limited capacity to make rational decisions, and their interactions with the youth justice system (Grisso et al., 2003). Children involved in the youth justice system are generally predominantly male, live in disadvantaged areas and are members of minority communities (Carroll et al., 2007; Moyle & Tauri, 2016). Those involved in the youth justice system often have histories involving childhood adversity, trauma, poverty, neglect, and family and neighbourhood disruption (Baglivio et al., 2014; Dierkhising et al., 2013), and mental health symptoms (Fite et al., 2020). These factors highlight the vulnerability of many youths involved in the justice system, emphasising the requirement of safeguards throughout their engagement with the justice system (Judge, 2015).

1.2. Policy Transfer

Criminal justice policies are converging worldwide, with factors such as , international human rights initiatives, influencing nations forming similar legislation (Fergusson, 2002; Hoberg, 2001; Morris, 2004). Within youth justice, there has been a significant amount of policy transfer internationally (Muncie, 2001). Policy transfer in the context of increased globalisation has resulted in a growing similarity in criminal justice, particularly across western societies (Garland, 2001 in Hamilton et al., 2016; Goldson & Cunneen, 2019). Nation states are commonly looking to other countries to discover 'what works' in youth justice, including through Lesson-drawing (Rose, 1991). Through policy transfer with lesson-drawing, elements,

or overall policies from other countries viewed as promising, can be brought to another country to bring the benefits of the policy to the country (Rose, 1991). Youth justice across Europe has been informed by contra-penal trajectories such as from the import of restorative conferencing from New Zealand (Muncie, 2005). It is suggested that smaller countries may be more likely to adapt criminal justice changes from abroad such as restorative conferencing than countries with strong hegemonic power such as England (Karstedt, 2015). Which may in part explain Ireland taking influence from New Zealand. Policy transfer may influence the development of similar policies across countries, however the substance and implementation of policy across countries can have significant differences (Doob & Tonry, 2004). These factors make policy transfer useful for comparative studies, as it provides similarity to use for comparison, with individual nuances in how the policy works in each country. One country may have the benefit of adapting similar policies and taking influence from elsewhere. This adaption can in turn influence others, both where they have taken influence from and to highlight benefits for countries around them. This process can continue, and collaboratively speed up an evidence base as multiple countries can continue to build upon the basic concepts at the same time. Ireland and New Zealand's youth justice systems can build upon an evidence-base for best practice in youth justice to benefit their systems, and others globally.

1.3. Shared Ideological Approach between Ireland and New Zealand

Policy transfer occurred between Ireland and New Zealand's youth justice systems and the ethos behind youth justice. Children Young People and Their Families Act, later renamed to Oranga Tamariki Act 1989, New Zealand influenced the Children Act, 2001 in Ireland. The Oranga Tamariki Act in 1989 was made up of innovative and unique methods, and ethos behind youth offending (Morris & Maxwell, 1993 in Lynch,2008). These included diversion, family group conferences (FGCs), and detention as a last resort (Hamilton, 2016) This led to the 1989 Act receiving much attention internationally (Morris, 2004). The introduction of these factors, such as accountability related to the justice model, and a focus on victims related to the restorative model (Hamilton, 2016), aimed to reduce the criticisms of the previous system. These included lack of accountability and due process legal rights, and excessive sanctions to meet a young person's welfare needs (Watt, 2003). The youth justice system in NZ gave influence to the reform of the youth justice system in Ireland that occurred with the Children Act 2001 (2001 Act) (Kilkelly, 2014; Lynch, 2012). Like NZ, Ireland emphasises young peoples' wellbeing, reintegration (Kilkelly, 2014), restoration and family involvement (Lynch, 2012), diversion and Family Group Conferences (FGC) (Kilkelly, 2014).

Ireland has adapted key features of the youth justice system of NZ and looked to research from their use in NZ to base practices on. Principles underpinning the youth justice system in NZ that have transferred to the Irish youth justice system include a focus on diversion, community, detention as a last resort, using the least restrictive intervention possible (Seymour, 2017). Elements of youth justice legislation, especially FGCs from NZ have been influential in several other western nations, including Ireland (Lynch, 2008). Views and needs of the victim are of importance which highlights restorative elements, along with reintegration of the young person into their community, and community involvement which can be an empowering process (Christie, 1977). As these similarities consist of underpinning principles of youth justice this highlights shared views surrounding citizens, including young people that guide the whole youth justice system, rather than just one type of intervention. This makes possible divergence away from these principles significant as it may suggest a move toward a broad ideological change rather than changes strictly to practice. Along with these shared underlying principles and ethos of the systems, Ireland has taken knowledge from NZ to put into specific practice within interventions. Ireland took influence from research on FGCS in NZ to establish the practicalities of using FGCs (McNulty, 2005). Through this research, Ireland concluded on the best manner to prepare for and chair FGCs here (McNulty, 2005) which highlights Ireland adapting both concepts and interventions from NZ, and NZ being influential in Irelands specific practices within these concepts. Although Ireland and NZ have these overarching similarities within their youth justice systems, and penal culture more widely along with some distinctive nuances in implementation and practices (Forde, 2021). These youth justice systems feature key elements under the four models of youth justice of, 'just deserts'/justice, welfare, restorative and actuarial. Due to this and the use of these models throughout much youth justice literature, these models are used for the theoretical basis of this research paper.

1.4. The models that underpin youth justice and the implications of them

Comprehensive explanations for youth delinquent behaviour are incorporated into models of youth justice through the policy and practice methods that are used in a country (Smith & Gray, 2019). Youth justice debates have traditionally been based around the competing objectives of the welfare versus justice approaches (Hazell, 2008). However, this may be oversimplified, as a vast array of, often competing factors within the context of a particular country, impact policy, and practices (Case & Hampson, 2019). Although there are complex nuances in balancing these objectives, generally all youth justice systems fulfil two competing objectives (McAra, 2012). One objective is to help and support young people to develop to overcome their problems

leading to positive behaviour change which aligns with the welfare model of justice for young people to be discussed (McAra, 2012). The other objective is to deliver appropriate, prompt, and firm responses to youth offending to protect the public from offending behaviour (McAra, 2012). This is more closely related to the justice model (Fionda, 2005), which will be discussed. These objectives are particularly relevant to youth justice, as young people may be viewed as vulnerable and in need of protection and support (Smith & Ecob, 2007), which makes finding a balance between these two objectives important. Despite a goal of justice being to protect the public from offending, within the context of youth justice this needs to be achieved ensuring young people are viewed as vulnerable and in need of support (Forde, 2021). While the need to protect society remains, the vulnerability of young people is generally acknowledged to some extent, as evident from the separate justice systems for young people and adults. In addition to the justice and welfare-based approaches, restorative and actuarial models will be used to encapsulate the nuances and complexities within youth justice systems. Each model that will be discussed in this review provides an approach to balancing these objectives. The use of these models will be linked to both youth justice interventions, and underlying perceptions and views surrounding young people and offending. Despite research and evidence surrounding models of youth justice and best-practice, models of justice used in each country are influenced by the wider political context and through professionals adapting their practices (Fergusson, 2007). Rather than responses to youth offending being evidence-based, they may instead be influenced by politics, public concern, or recent events (Case & Hampson, 2019; Fergusson, 2007).

1.4.1. Just Deserts/Justice

The belief behind the 'just deserts'/ justice model is that young people, who are at the age of criminal responsibility, can make a rational choice on engaging in offending behaviour, and therefore have a responsibility for their behaviour and consequences (McAra, 2012). A limitation to the validity of this belief, is the various ages that are deemed to be the age of criminal responsibility in different countries. Due to the focus on the young person's responsibility and consequences, this model is more related to justice, punishment and meeting the publics' need for protection. Accountability and responsibility are the key focus, with prosecution and sanctioning occurring in court (Kilkelly, 2006). This view of young people making a rational choice to offend, suggests that young people who do offend may be a significant threat to society as despite the possible harm and consequences they have committed the offence. This view, may be linked to labelling the young person as an offender first, rather

than as a young person who is facing vulnerabilities that may impact their decisions. As they may be viewed as an 'offender first' their due process and procedural rights are focused on (Forde, 2022; Kilkelly, 2006; Muncie, 2015). This is in line with their offender status, rather than a 'child first' view that would focus on their needs as a child before the due process rights of the criminal justice system.

1.4.2. Welfare

Contrastingly to the just deserts model, The 'Welfare' model is underpinned by the belief that the young person cannot be held responsible for their actions of offending in the same way as adults, as young people are at a protected stage of development (McAra, 2012). Rather than the child being viewed primarily as a rights bearer as with the justice model, they are viewed as a bearer of entitlements due to their protected stage of development (McAra, 2012). Interventions within this model aim to 'rescue' the vulnerable child (McAra, 2012), contrasting to the justice interventions focus on punishment. This highlights a focus on protecting and meeting the needs of young people in the context of their vulnerability, and incomplete development. Although this is to benefit the young people, and ensure interventions are appropriate for their developmental stage, by increasing holistic welfare outcomes, societies need for protection may be met with these interventions in turn reducing recidivism. However, a strict adherence to best interest of the child and their needs as seen through the 'child saving era' of youth justice can lead to limited consideration for the rights of children. Due process rights were seen as unnecessary in the light of the 'best interest' objective, as meeting these rights would limit the flexibility needed for individualized intervention and treatment (Kempf-Leonard & Peterson, 2000). This problem between balancing punitive and rehabilitative functions is harmful for the juvenile process (Allen, 1964 in Kempf-Leonard & Peterson, 2000) and has been partly responsible for various reform efforts (Ferdinand, 1991). Further criticism of the welfare-based system included limited attention, and compliance with proportionality, with some children receiving increased levels of intervention than they would through a courtbased system (McVie, 2011; Kempf-Leonard & Peterson, 2000).

1.4.3. Restorative

The restorative model views personhood as being directly shaped by the cultural and community context (Zehr & Mika, 1998). Children in this model have entitlements and rights, whilst being viewed as rational individuals who have capability to accept responsibility for harm caused (McAra, 2012). Advocates of restorative justice, advocate for influence taken from customary practices of Māori, Aboriginal and Native American

Indigenous communities (Muncie, 2005). Restorative processes have potential to restore the control of justice from the state to citizens, and in turn restore harmony based on a sense of justice from these processes (Braithwaite, 2003). Restorative processes, and the restorative model of youth justice has an increased focus on accountability of the young person, with this being related to reparation for the victim, and responds to the needs of those most directly harmed by the offence (Pavelka & Thomas, 2019). Emphasis is on repairing the relational damage caused by the offence (Bouffard et al., 2017), and community involvement and participation in criminal justice practices (Christie, 1977). This then ideally results in reducing recidivism (Bouffard et al., 2017), and successful reintegration into the community with community healing (April et al., 2022). The concept of a restorative model of justice creates opportunity for a system of social justice based on building communities, solidarity, and empowerment (White, 2003).

1.4.4. Actuarial

Actuarial justice focuses on techniques to identify, classify, and manage groups assorted by their levels of dangerousness (Feeley & Simon, 1994 in Kempf-Leonard & Peterson, 2000). The main aim of this model, is to reduce further offending to protect the public (McAra, 2012), although this is to be achieved with cost-effective measures (Garland, 1996; Kempf-Leonard & Peterson, 2000). The belief within the actuarial model is that young people have the capacity for wrongdoing, and they have needs that require addressing. However unlike the welfare model, the needs are based on the criminogenic risk related to them (McAra, 2012). This means that the actuarial model may address some of the young person's needs, however only the needs that are believed to increase the risk of the young person re-offending or offending for the first time. These needs, may also be defined as 'risk factors' linked to offending. Some key features include efficiency and techniques that streamline case processing and offender supervision replacing traditional goals of rehabilitation, punishment, deterrence and focus on due process or crime control (Packer, 1968 in Kempff-Leonard & Peterson, 2000). This model may include early intervention with those who score highly on the risk assessment to prevent them potentially offending (Case, 2007). A risk factor paradigm, therefore, focuses on the potential for harm, and misbehaviour rather than the crime itself (Muncie, 2005). Established risk factors include poor parental supervision, family disharmony (Farrington, 1996), and living in a violent community (Loeber & Stouthamer-Loeber, 1998). Those considered most at risk, are generally from marginalized and socially excluded groups such as low socio-economic status and ethnic minorities (Muncie, 2005). These groups, despite being referred to within the actuarial model

as a risk for offending and causing harm, may themselves be victims of their situation that may lead to such behaviour. Rehabilitation or due process is replaced with implementing punishments in an efficient, cost-effective manner. In this regard, rather than a focus on outcomes for young people and society, the focus is on outputs and meeting targets (Kempf-Leonard and Peterson, 2000) which is particularly harmful for the 'at risk' groups due to their disadvantage and victimisation previously experienced.

1.5. This dissertation

This paper will consist of a literature review that highlights the background of shared ethos of youth justice between Ireland and New Zealand, highlighting aspects of all four models of justice found in Ireland and New Zealand with benefits and limitation to their use outlined. The methods used throughout this paper will be transparently described to improve research trustworthiness and highlight the use of scientific, systematic research methods. The discussion and findings section will then outline the relevant findings from the thematic analysis and refer to the literature to highlight how the models found in current policy compare to that discussed in the literature review. Findings will answer the research question through answering if Ireland and NZ have diverged or continue convergence with the models of justice from the introduction of the related legislation to recent policy.

Chapter 2: Literature and Legislation Review

2.1. Influences on legislation and policy

Models of justice used are influenced by the wider political context, and by practitioners in practice (Fergusson, 2007; Carr & McAllister, 2014). The overall approach a country uses in response to youth offending may not be directly based on scientific evidence, and instead may be influenced by politics, or public concern and recent events (Case & Hampson, 2019; Fergusson, 2007). In NZ, there have been some calls and attempts to move toward and develop the most tough response to what was claimed to be a spiralling issue of youth offending (ACT, 2005, in Bradley et al., 2006). Other propositions included reducing the age of criminal responsibility from 14 to 12 and reducing the use of diversion (Bradley et al., 2006). Reducing the age of criminal responsibility is significant generally as it widens the number of children who may face justice system interventions which may increase their risks of re-offending in the future (McAra & McVie, 2007) leading to worsened outcomes for the young people, their family and community. Other implications of age of criminal responsibility and its relation to models of justice will be detailed in the next section. In addition, this would represent a significant shift in the model of justice used. This would move towards a justice model with children of a younger age being held accountable for their behaviour. Trends were moving towards increased referrals to the Youth Court by the Police, for moderately serious offences (Maxwell & Popplewell, 2003; Spier and Lash, 2004) which highlights a harsher more punitive justice-based response. Similarly in Ireland, collapse of public confidence in government, financial collapse and fears surrounding certain types of crime and offenders have had a negative impact on the welfare ethos, with focus increasingly based upon addressing public fears (Muncie, 2013 in O'Connor, 2019). These political orientations and views are in contrast with the 'ground-breaking' basis of the 1989 Act, this is significant as NZ were prominent in influencing many countries to more toward their progressive youth justice system based on a more holistic, welfare-based understanding of children and young people. If the country that initiated this type of youth justice system are changing their views in a significant way like this, it brings into question systems that never had as much of a progressive approach becoming ever increasingly punitive. In addition, countries would then be less likely to take influence from NZs progressive system if those within NZ are changing their viewpoints. Public anxieties along with sensationalized media reports can influence politicians to make policy changes to respond to these concerns (Cohen, 2002). This is significant as despite clear evidence on the contrary, assumptions within society have often been that youth crime is an increasing problem (Pople & Smith, 2012). Moral panics of public fears can impact policy (Cohen, 2002). This can lead to a country holding referendums, campaigning, and changing policy and legislation based on inaccurate perceptions of youth justice. This may lead to ineffective youth justice responses, and reduced focus on children's rights (Cunneen et al., 2018). These factors such as political and public opinion and influence that have occurred after the enactment of the 1989 Act highlight how models of justice used and found in recent policy and amendments to legislation may differ from the basis of the legislation. Despite the evidence for benefits of models of justice based on welfare and restorative approaches, these factors may all lead to increased focus on justice/just deserts models of justice.

2.2. New Zealand - Oranga Tamariki Act/ The Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989

New Zealand passed the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act (CYPF)/ Oranga Tamariki Act, referred to as the 1989 Act throughout this review, in 1989, which at the time was an innovative, unique and radical way of responding to youth offending (Morris & Maxwell, 1993 in Lynch, 2008). Prior to the 1989 Act New Zealands (NZ) youth justice system had a strong welfare ethos (Morris, 2004). Welfare-based systems faced criticisms including limited proportionality (Kempf-Leonard & Peterson, 2000). Von Hirsch (1976) proposed that factors including proportionality and protection of due process rights should be at the centre of youth justice interventions in response to criticism of the strict welfare model (Von Hirsch, 1976). This move away from a strictly welfare ethos, did not result in a complete turn to the other end of the scale with a strict justice model (Morris, 2004). Instead, NZ retained a welfare basis (Hamilton, 2016), however incorporated justice, restorative, and actuarial model elements. This legislation was considered as groundbreaking at the time and introduced a regime based on diversion, family group conferences (FGCs) and restrictions on arrest powers of the police (Hamilton, 2016). The ethos behind this act was closer to the justice model than the previous welfare model, however maintained welfarist principles. Young offenders are to be held accountable for their behaviour and take responsibility for this, while receiving rehabilitative interventions and familial support (Hamilton, 2016).

2.3. Ireland – The Children Act 2001

When the Children Act 2001 (2001 Act) was enacted it replaced legislation that was almost 100 years old (Walsh, 2005). The 2001 Act provided for an increase in age of criminal responsibility, restorative and family conferencing and diversion (Carr and McAllister, 2014; Hamilton et al., 2016). As with the 1989 Act in NZ, the 2001 Act in Ireland aimed to avoid

negatives that can occur with a system aligning too strictly to a welfare approach (Dáil Éireann Debate, 2000 in Forde & Swirak, 2023). Whilst the 2001 Act aimed to avoid the opposite approach, of being too strictly a justice approach (Dáil Éireann Debate, 2000 in Forde & Swirak, 2023). In the attempts to avoid strictly adhering to one model, drafters of the legislation preferred informalism which is a key feature of Irish criminal justice policy (Hamilton, 2016). The below discussions highlight the various models of justice through youth justice in Ireland, which achieves this aim of not adhering strictly to one model. While this has benefits in mitigating against negatives related to each model, and benefiting from the positive aspects of using various models the informalism regarding discretion in Ireland has limitations. Some discretion is useful within youth justice based on varying needs of different young people (United Nations General Assembly, 1985). However, this discretion requires accountability of professionals, and for discretion to be based on specialized knowledge and training to make these decisions (United Nations General Assembly, 1985). This limitation highlights a need for professionals with specialist knowledge regarding young people to be involved in youth justice. Below the key features of the 2001 Act will be discussed with how it relates to the models of justice.

2.4. Key Aspects of the Oranga Tamariki Act 1989 and the Children Act 2001 and models of justice.

2.4.1. Age of Criminal Responsibility

The youth justice system in both NZ and Ireland covers young people up to the age of 17. The general age of criminal responsibility in Ireland under the 2001 Act is 12 years. Prior to the 2001 Act, under the 1908 Act the age of criminal responsibility in Ireland was 7. This change highlights movement have an increased focus on best interests of the child, with consideration for their welfare, needs and limited culpability compared to a more justice based lower age. The 2001 Act sets out that a child under 12 shall not be charged with an offence (s.52(1)), unless the child aged 10 or 11 is charged with murder, manslaughter, rape, or aggravated assault (s.52(2)). Although the general age of criminal responsibility is 12 in Ireland, Section 52(4) as amended under the Criminal Justice Act 2006 (s.129) of the 2001 Act provides increased protections for those under 14 years. When a child under 14 is charged with an offence, no further proceedings (other than remand in custody or bail) can be taken except with or by consent of the Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP). The general age of criminal responsibility in NZ is 14. However, like with Ireland there are some exceptions to this. Under section 272 of the 1989 Act as amended by section 261 of the District Court Act 2016, there are three situations in which proceedings may commence against a child under the age of 14.

These include for children of or over 10 who have committed murder or manslaughter and 12-13-year-olds for serious offences with certain penalties. The use of penalty length within these criteria may be somewhat of an arbitrary factor for reasons such as sentence lengths may change due to public outcry leading to an offence becoming included under this criteria. As both legislations have a similar ethos, and therefore view of children, this difference in age of general responsibility by two years highlights how even with this similarity's features may differ slightly. During adolescence the brain is still developing, with growth and connections within the brain developing into early adulthood (Paus et al., 2008). Development including that of the frontal lobe which is responsible for behaviour and inhibition can continue through ages 20-30 (Petanjek et al., 2011; Weinberger et al., 2005). This means that adolescents, including those over 17 may lack the brain development to make rational decisions, which may reduce their culpability for any offence. In addition, in high stimuli environments, children's regulatory ability is lower, they aren't influenced by knowledge of negative consequences and are more willing to take risks (McKewen et al., 2019). This suggests that with a stronger welfare ethos, children and young people could not be held responsible or accountable due to these factors, and instead of interventions even that of diversion which holds the child accountable may be inappropriate for the wellbeing of the young person. Although one mitigating factors against this inappropriate accountability is interventions within the youth justice systems is age is a mitigating factor in determining sanctions (1989 Act .208(2e) and 2001 Act s.96(3)). The various factors that affect criminal justice such as culture, public opinion and political factors as discussed in relation to their effect on legislation, have broader effects on the concept and understanding of the nature of childhood. This may have impacts in the day to day lives of children and communities. The age of criminal responsibility in Ireland and NZ highlights features of both welfare, justice/just deserts, and some actuarial focus on reducing risk of further offending. Although the understanding of children and their developmental capabilities may not be accurate within any of these models, a hybrid approach may help mitigate against limitations to each model.

2.4.1.1. Exceptions to this age and young people over seventeen

The inclusion of the age of ten for certain offences in Ireland and NZ suggests an increased focus on the justice model for these offences. Charging a child of the age of 10 or 11, but only for certain offences highlights how not all children are viewed the same. Children under 12 in Ireland, or 14 years in NZ, who commit a more minor offence are viewed as children first, with a welfare focus and because of their age they cannot be held criminally responsible for these

acts. However other children, or possibly even the same children who have previously committed an act that would be brought into the justice system if they were older, are no longer treated as children first based on the severity of their actions and the consequences. In support of this, research has found Irelands response to children who have committed serious offences is relatively g. This suggests that the focus in these cases is not on the child welfare without culpability due to their age, but is based on justice and just deserts, with the key focus on public protection and responsibility in response to the serious offence.

Those aged 15 and over in NZ may be sentenced to an adult prison (Sentencing Act, 2002), and as NZ has a reservation to Article 37(c) of the Convention on the Rights of the Child, children can end up in custody in adult prisons. Despite attempts to place young people in more suitable youth units, being an adult prison may be an added punitive effect in addition to being placed in detention, leaning closer to the 'just deserts'/justice model. In Ireland, young people whose sentence of detention passes their 18th birthday, will be transferred from the detention prison to an adult facility for the rest of their sentence (2001 Act s.155). This may also occur for children even younger, and so possibly more vulnerable. In Ireland children including those from age 10 who commit serious offences as discussed from section 52 of the 2001 Act charged can be transferred to the adult court (Forde & Swirak, 2023). Despite developmental research finding that development continues into the 20's, both certain serious offenders, and over 15 in NZ and 17 in Ireland can be placed within or transferred to the adult court and prisons. These adult based systems are not suited to their needs leading to worsening wellbeing (Dyer, 2016; Deuchar & Sapouna, 2016). This highlights a reduced focus on welfare, with an increased just deserts punitive response for certain offences committed by children and young people, and for all young peoples over 17 despite their developmental status.

2.4.2. Youth Court

Traditional court processes and interventions to juvenile offending have been criticized both for neglecting the victim, and an excessive focus on punishment that may not be directly related to the offending behaviour (Flemming et al., 1992 in McGarrell & Hipple, 2007). Although both NZ and Ireland maintain elements of the justice/just deserts model with the retention of traditional justice agencies such as the courts, they have incorporated welfare, actuarial and restorative model-based elements both into these agencies processes, and the subsequent interventions and sanctions. For example, to adapt the traditional justice court process to be suitable for children and young people, although there are limited separate buildings for youth courts in Ireland, sittings of the District Court for children must sit in a different building or

room from adult sittings or at different times than adult sittings (2001 Act s. 71(1)). This increases protection of identity and the en camera requirement for children before the court to be kept anonymous, and limiting their contact with adult offenders before the courts has benefits of reducing possible negative social learning influence. Specialist training for judges that will preside over cases involving children may be required by the President of the District Court for judges appointed on or after 15 December 1995 (2001 Act (s. 72(1)). Although the court may be assisted by the Child and Family agency, this is upon request, and with the judiciary not having mandatory training across the board, may lead to inappropriate processes and outcomes due to lack of awareness of children and young people and inconsistent court processes and resulting sanctions. This decision may be made based on inaccurate assumptions and knowledge, with the decision having significant effects on the young person and their families lives. When the court is exercising its power in relation to youth offending in NZ, they are guided by the principle that reasonable measures or assistance should be given to support the young person to reduce offending or reoffending (1989 Act 208(3a)) which highlights some focus on actuarial risk of further offending. The court or person exercising power for interventions following offending in NZ and Ireland include that if it would benefit the child, they should be referred to care, protection, or well-being services (1989 Act s.208(3b)); 2001 Act s.77(1)). This highlights consideration of overall welfare needs rather than just actuarial risk-based needs related to re-offending. Referral to the appropriate services is beneficial both to meet welfare needs, and involvement of a non-criminal justice agency reduces the criminogenic effect of justice interventions. The referral of cases to other services for welfare needs, and the principle that criminal justice proceedings should not be instituted against a child or young person to provide for welfare needs (1989 Act s.208(2b) and 2001 Act s.96(b), mitigates against a criticism of the welfare model that welfare systems can lead to increased justice sanctions for welfare needs. In addition, welfare needs such as best interest of the child, and negatively interfering with their life are considered. Justice interventions including those by the court use detention as a last resort, with children being kept in the community as much as possible, consideration for the need to ensure public safety (The 1989 Act s. 208(2d) and 208(f)(i); 2001 Act s. 96 (2d)), s. 96 (5). To support this, several community-based sanctions are available (Kilkelly, 2014; Morris, 2004). Determining sentence, requires consideration of the views and interests of any victims of the offending behaviour with proper regard for the needs of any victims and the effects the offence has had on them (1989 Act, s.208(g)). As evident from the above, the principles and sanctions include elements from all four models. Justice model elements are evident from the maintenance of Youth Court systems, along with

other justice agencies as will be further discussed, and interventions considering public safety. Elements of the welfare model are evident within these justice-based agencies and responses with a focus on specialist training, assistance from, or referral to welfare-based agencies, and the use of detention as a last resort. Elements of the actuarial model within NZ include the consideration with sanctions to take reasonable measures to reduce reoffending, which suggests a focus on risk of re-offending being a consideration. The restorative model is seen in NZ and Ireland with the consideration of victims needs and interests.

2.4.3. Diversion

Due to the potential negative effects of involvement in the traditional justice system diversion from the courts is beneficial. However, any involvement with criminal justice system and agencies can increase the likelihood of re-offending (McAra & McVie, 2007). This highlights risks of the diversion programmes that will be discussed in Ireland and NZ, particularly the police/Garda programmes due to involvement with actors in this agency. However, despite this possible risk, the focus on the use of diversion where possible is supported by research (Forde et al., 2021 in Forde & Swirak, 2023; MaAra & McVie, 2007; 2010). The 2001 Act requires that diversion should be considered in all cases of an offence or anti-social behaviour where responsibility is accepted by the child unless the interests of society require otherwise (2001 Act s. 18).

2.4.3.1. Police Youth Diversion

In NZ, the police can administer a non-statutory diversion scheme, the Police Youth Diversion (PYD). Under section 208(a) of the 1989 Act police must consider a diversionary programme when a warning is seen as an insufficient response. Police have discretion in the details of what is involved in the diversionary programme, however they should consult with the offender, their family and sometimes the victim to make a diversionary programme plan for the child involved. Diversionary plans generally consist of apologies to the victim, reparation, community work, attending programmes, a curfew, or a donation (Maxwell et al., 2002). With diversion from formal judicial processes, and a lack of oversight of the PYD, unfair investigation measures or evidence may fall under the radar, in addition to difficulties for young people and their families to give fully informed consent to participate (Lynch, 2008). This highlights the importance of maintaining elements of different models of justice. Diversion links to the restorative model with inclusion of victims and reparation for them, and to the welfare model with plans containing elements to improve the needs and situation for young

people. However, without inclusion of the rights and protections of the justice model, the benefits from this may be limited.

2.4.3.2. Garda Diversion Programme

The objective of the Garda Diversion Programme (GDP) is to divert any child who accepts responsibility for their criminal or anti-social behaviour from further offences or antisocial behaviour (2001 Act s. 19(1)). This objective shall be achieved primarily through a caution and where appropriate placing them under the supervision (2001 Act s. 19(2)). Admission to the programme requires the child to accept responsibility for their relevant behaviour, having had a reasonable opportunity to consult their parents or guardian and obtain any legal advice sought and the child consent to being cautioned (2001 Act s. 23). The GDP provides children with an option to be cautioned instead of prosecuted against (Kilkelly, 2011). However, a child aged from 10 to under 18 can be admitted to the programme (2001 Act s. 23(c) as amended). Although through diversion and a caution, the child is not being brought into the formal criminal justice system, without this option of diversion they would not be eligible to be criminally charged. This highlights elements of a move away from welfare toward a more punitive approach. Due to the previously mentioned possible risk of even diversion increasing risks of further offending the impacts of this may be detrimental to public protection and longterm outcomes for the child. This further highlights the need for legal advice. A child or young person is cautioned through the GDP, and when a victim is present it can be known as a 'restorative caution' where they child can apologise to them and offer compensation (Kilkelly, 2011).

Through an amendment under the Criminal Justice Act 2006 s.126 evidence based on the child's involvement in the diversion programme, including their acceptance of responsibility can be put before the court by the prosecution where a court is considering a sentence for an offence committed after the child's admission to the programme (2001 Act s.48). Despite the welfare and restorative ethos of the diversion programme including best interests of the child with diversion from prosecution and restoration for the victim the ability for their participation in the programme to lead to more severe punishment if they were to commit a further offence may in these cases undo the welfare and restorative elements of their time in the programme. The child, their family and the victim's participation were based on agreement that the outcomes of a conference would be what is agreed to in the plan. If consequences were increased due to the conference through its use as evidence, this may be against the views,

needs and interests of the child, their family, and the victim. This further highlights the need for justice-based rights and protections for the young person such as legal advice for them or their parents with diversion programmes, which is provided for under section 23 of the 2001 act, however wording includes the opportunity to obtain legal advice sought by or on behalf of the child may suggest that if families are not aware of the importance and need to seek and get as much legal advice as they can, they may not seek it out. In recognition of this, the youth, and children strategy 2009-2011 aimed to promote better understanding of the Programme for children and their families (An Garda Síochána, 2009).

Legal protections in line with the justice model are necessary for children and young people even within these welfare-based approaches. The Committee on the Rights of the Child responsible for monitoring the Convention of the Rights of the Child which NZ and Ireland should have implemented within their country has highlighted requirements of diversion programmes. Despite the benefits of restorative approaches there is potential lack of meeting procedural rights of young people and increased power imbalances in some restorative justice settings (Lynch, 2010). In Ireland and NZ, the use of diversion and FGCs is related to the lack of a judicial trial reducing strength of evidence required, in NZ children involved in FGCs often lack legal assistance (Morris et al., 1997), especially significant in pre-trial diversionary FGCs (Maxwell et al., 2004). Participation of engagement with the diversion programme in Ireland being admissible as evidence for future offending before the courts highlights an area where Ireland is not meeting children and young peoples' rights. In contrast to this, The Committee states that diversion should only be used when there is sufficient evidence that the child committed the offence, they freely without coercion or pression admit responsibility and in support of the United Nations General Assembly, that the admission won't be used against them in any future legal proceedings (Committee on the Rights of the Child, 2007; United Nations General Assembly, 1985). Therefore, the committee states that children should have access to legal or other appropriate assistance in relation to their participation in diversion. This highlights the welfare and restorative based approach, may not be as deeply rooted in the best interests of the child as would appear from the concept of diversion and family group conferences. The inclusion of a committee to monitor the effectiveness of the diversion programme in s. 44 of the 2001 Act may be of benefit, however half the members of the committee are members of the Garda Síochána. In addition, the committee is to monitor the effectiveness of the programme, review its operation and monitor training needs of facilitators. Although these factors are important, with the objective of the programme being to reduce offending, it would require explicit and intentional focus from the committee on rights compliance of the programme.

2.4.4. Family involvement

Family are considered within guiding principle(s) for the exercise of criminal jurisdiction over children in the 2001 Act s.96(2b & 2c) and the 1989 act s. 208(c),(f). In addition to specific family-based interventions, family are a consideration throughout all justice interventions. With the 1989 Act, the increased focus on family is evident from the name of the legislation, Children, Young People and Their Families Act with the addition of the word family compared to the preceding Children and Young Persons Act 1974. Focus on the family within juvenile delinquency has consistently recognised the significant role that parent-child dynamics can have on youth behaviour (Burgess & Akers, 1966; Steinberg et al., 2006; De Coster, 2012). Research involvement of family is related to a welfare model with research sustaining that parents play a role in protecting their child from engagement in juvenile delinquency through emotional support and attachment, active supervision, and positive socialization (Hoeve et al., 2009; Steinberg et al., 2006; Tyler & Trinkner, 2017). However, literature highlighting the impact of family requires caution as over focusing on this, may have limitations in putting increased responsibilities, and placing blame on the parents without providing adequate support. This highlights discrepancies between FGCs in Ireland and NZ. In the CYPF Act in section 4, there are provisions for appropriate services to be provided for wellbeing, assisting families, and dealing with children and young people in a way that acknowledges their needs and gives them an opportunity to develop well (Morris, 2004). The provision for assisting families is explicit, in comparison to the literature on the 2001 Act not stating an explicit focus on family and wellbeing needs being met. However more recent literature details Ireland are working toward enabling all relevant agencies Including welfare-based agencies to provide services for young people who have offended (O'Connor, 2019). This highlights the benefit of looking at research from different time frames to ensure a holistic account of both the history and progress of the youth justice systems. Unlike Ireland who have their family group conferences led by justice agencies, NZ have an officer of the Child Youth and Family agency, which is the state's social agency for children and their family) called a youth justice coordinator (Morris, 2004). However, there may be similarities between this and Irelands justicebased facilitators being a specially trained Juvenile Liaison Officers (JLO) and probation workers having social worker qualifications in Ireland.

2.4.4.1. Family Group Conferences

Family group conferences (FGCs) for use with youth offenders generally involves a face-toface meeting that can include the victim of the offence, the offender, a trained facilitator, a police officer, supporters for the victims and offenders such as family members, or community members (Van Ness et al., 2001). An ideal FGC would include effective, meaningful participation of the child, with family support for the child, healing for the victim and the procedure being culturally appropriate with resulting mutually agreed solution emphasising reintegration of the child into the community (Levine et al., 1998; Maxwell et al., 2004). Studies of FGCs have found that they resulted in feelings of satisfaction, inclusion, respect and procedural fairness (McGarrell & Hipple, 2007; Braithwaite, 2002). FGCs may reduce future offending through processes such as a sense that the intervention has been fair, and reintegrative shaming (McGarrell & Hipple, 2007; Braithwaite, 2002), consisting of the young person feeling some shame for the offence through awareness of its impacts on the victim, however with this, and the restoration, and repairing of harm caused this shaming is part of their reintegration into the community. In NZ, FGCs are a vital, mandatory part of the youth justice system both before or after a charge has been made (Bradley et al., 2006). Some argue that FGCs were a successful process to create a culturally sensitive youth justice system (Olsen et al., 1995), however in practice research has found this is not the case. Research carried out by Moyle and Tauri (2016), examined Māori, whanau (family) and community members views on their experiences of FGCs with involvement of Māori throughout all phases, which included Māori practices and language. This research is significant as with FGCs frequently being described as culturally appropriate to Māori, along with their introduction being part of a policy response to reduce Māori offending while increasing their engagement with crime control (Moyle, 2013). Overrepresentation of minority groups can be seen throughout many countries criminal justice systems, including NZs (Tauri, 2016). Indigenous people are over portrayed as a problem population, therefore requiring social intervention (Cunneen, 2014). Māori communities had their own system of justice before colonization, where their practices were taken away, with obligations to follow the legal system of the colonizers. Through research involving Māori throughout, it was found, although there is symbolic use of Māori cultural practice in FGCs, the process has been described as culturally inappropriate by practitioners and whanau (Moyle & Tauri, 2016). This is significant as it leads to barriers to positive outcomes from the process for whanau, which is against the welfare and culturally appropriate ethos underpinning the process. In addition, even professionals who were approved as being

culturally competent in working with Māori often did not value, understand or consider fundamental factors of Māori worldview in their practice (Moyle, 2013). The family conference model in the 2001 Act was based on the NZ model, which is built upon three concepts: restoration not punishment, voluntary not coercive and family not state based (Lynch, 2012). FGCs in Ireland can occur as discussed through the diversion programme and probation service. Within the GYD when the child is placed under supervision, a conference to bring together the child, their family, victim, and others on a voluntary basis to discuss the reason for the offending and ways the family can help prevent re-offending may occur (The Children Act 2001 s.20 & 30-39). The JLO mediates between the child and victim and has specialised training for this. The results of a conference include development of an Action plan, which should be in the best interests of the child or make the child more aware of the impact of their offending through for example reparation to the victim, participation in activities, a curfew, or no contact with certain people (2001 Act s.39(3)). However, in practice, within the GDP, restorative elements of family group conferences dominate over the family aspect (Kilkelly, 2014) as evident through restorative cautions. In addition, FGCs may be court ordered. With these, the action plan is submitted to the court for amendment or approval. Criminal proceedings are adjourned for the duration of the FGC, and for a time to allow the action plan to be carried out (Kilkelly, 2014). If the FGC and action plan are successful in preventing further offending, the court proceedings can be discontinued. This, may have a limitation in these actors being part of the criminal justice system, which may risk the criminogenic effect of the justice system, for example with effects of labelling. However, benefits are that JLOs with specialist training, and probation officers as social workers will have specialist expertise with children and young people and may be able to mitigate against this risk.

2.5. Models of Youth Justice in Ireland and New Zealand 2.5.1. Justice elements

Both NZ and Ireland have elements of a justice-based approach in aims of ensuring the offender be held accountable, with accountability and them accept responsibility for their actions in Ireland, or through not denying the offence in NZ (Morris, 2004; Kilkelly, 2014; Bradley et al., 2006). Although diversion is a focus of both NZ and Irelands youth justice system, they maintain elements of justice/ just deserts-based approach with the retention of the traditional courts system available for some offences, and available to then order some diversionary processes. Although within the justice-based factors, welfare measures are partially maintained, combating limitations to previous limitations of welfare, criminal proceedings are

not to be used for welfare-based needs interventions (Morris, 2004; 2001 Act s. 96(1); 1989 Act s. 208(b)).

This with focus on the response to offending being the least restrictive as possible, maintaining the child's legitimate interests such as school and community connections and responding to some of the related issues to juvenile offending such as family issues suggests a welfare basis within the justice response. Although the meeting of these needs, could have a different aim with a more actuarial focus, the explicit mention in NZ of using measures to improve the child's wellbeing and using detention as a last resort in both Ireland and NZ highlight inclusion of welfare needs, sanctions occurring through diversion of an FGC may not be proportional, which reduces the link to just deserts-based models in both countries, however like the just deserts model, Ireland and NZ base their sanction on being the least restrictive punishment required for the offence being used. However, the models in Ireland and NZ with diversion and FGCs, and a lack of legal aid through these processes are not in line with the benefit of focus on due process rights.

2.5.2. Welfare elements

New Zealand have made adaptation to their youth justice system, moving away from adversarial processes where possible towards a more therapeutic approach (Lynch & Liefaard, 2020; Richards et al., 2017). Adaptations including prioritizing care and wellbeing of children within the traditional youth justice system, particularly through diversion in both Ireland and NZ highlight a welfare aim whilst maintaining elements of a justice-based courts system for some cases. Even when young people do go through judicial proceedings, there are provisions to promote their successful reintegration through measures including education, care, and services to aid their well-being in Ireland (Forde, 2021; Childrens Act, 2001 s.158).

Both Ireland and NZ use aspects of the welfare model. The welfare model views juvenile offending as being the result of deeper needs of the child, who is not viewed as fully responsible for their action, with them being at a protected developmental stage (McAra, 2012). However, as discussed, the ages of inclusion of young people in the justice system in Ireland and NZ may result in welfare needs of older young people not being met. This is despite research showing they are at a protected stage of development until into their 20's. Risks of the welfare model include indeterminate and disproportionate sanctions based on welfare needs (McAra, 2012). However, both Ireland and NZ have attempted to mitigate against this through stating justice interventions may not be used on a welfare basis, with sanctions needing to be the least

restrictive possible. The welfare model is linked to the model of development where the child is viewed as being at the heart of a supportive family, and the family at the heart of a supportive community (McAra and McVie, 2010). This is seen through Ireland and NZs legislation focusing on community and family interventions.

2.5.3. Restorative elements

Despite the restorative features of the 1989 Act, the architects of the Act had no knowledge of restorative justice when they included Family Group Conferences (FGCs) in the Act (Doolan, 2003 in Suzuki & Wood, 2017). FGCs were introduced as part of the larger diversionary framework, with their design and implementation not being based on introducing restorative justice into the youth justice system (Bradley et al., 2006). FGCs were intended as a diversion intervention for young offenders in the youth justice system, and as a care and protection strategy for use in the child welfare system (MacRae, 2004). FGCs influence and notability as a restorative justice practice coming retrospectively (Suzuki & Wood, 2017). Despite restorative features not being the main aim, elements of the 1989 Act that are restorative include the transfer of state power from the courts to the family and community, group decision making in FGCs and involvement of victims (McElrea, 1994). FGCs within the 2001 Act and 1989 Act, diversion, and restorative cautions in Ireland represent restorative features. In addition, the aims for reintegration into the community further highlight features of the restorative model found in Ireland and NZ.

2.5.4. Actuarial elements

New Zealand have had funding from the Department of Child, Youth and Family Services to develop a strategy to provide better ways to recognize and meet young people's needs who are at high risk of developing criminal lifestyles (Morris, 2004). Programmes include the family start program provides intensive support and early intervention for at risk families at birth (Morris, 2004). In 2002 the Youth Offending Strategy in NZ included endorsing risk identification and assessment tools (Morris, 2004). This focus on risk identification and prevention for those at-risk highlights elements of the actuarial model. In addition, a consideration within all measures in response to offending includes that sanctions should as much as possible aim to address the underlying causes of offending (Section 208(2)(fa) as inserted by section 101(3) of the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families (Youth Courts Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Act 2010). The inclusion of this within an amendment in 2010 highlights movement toward an actuarial model focus through legislation. These underlying causes of offending may be referring to risk factors. In addition to these explicit

measures, welfare interventions may impact risk factors indirectly. Use of community measures and interventions being the least restrictive possible may keep young people involved in their protective factors to mitigate against risk factors. The actuarial model is not significantly prevalent in the 2001 Act, however the inclusion of those under 12, below the age of criminal responsibility within the remit of the GDP highlights some consideration of involvement in the criminal justice system based on preventative measures for risk of offending once they are the age of criminal responsibility.

2.6. Hybrid models and conclusion

Like the 1989 Act in NZ, the 2001 Act as mentioned moved some ways closer to the justice model, however maintained welfare principles. Increase emphasis on holding the young person accountable and responsible for their behaviour as seen in both the CYPF Act and 2001 Act demonstrates a move away from welfare based closer towards the justice model. Justice/just deserts concepts of the involvement of traditional justice agencies such as the youth court and the police, proportionality, accountability, and crime control aims are maintained. However, in addition to this justice model basis the processes involved with them taking accountability involve rehabilitative and restorative interventions. Although young people are to be held accountable, this is within a system focused on diversion through interventions such as FGCs with restorative elements for the young person, their families, the victim, and the community. Proportionality, which is a justice-based concept, is used within the context of welfare considerations of the developmental level, culpability, and appropriateness for the young person at their vulnerable life stage. The use of diversion, along with a requirement to use the least restrictive sanction appropriate to maintain the young person's legitimate activities, with detention being used as a last resort maintains welfare elements within both NZ and Ireland's youth justice systems.

Chapter 3: Methodology

3.1. Aims

The aim of this research is to explore two jurisdictions, Ireland and New Zealand, that shared youth justice ideological frameworks with their legislation to critically outline whether they converged or diverged with each other over the proceeding decades.

This was done by 1) conducting a comprehensive literature review around the two jurisdictions, 2) critically exploring the two pieces of legislation with reference to predetermined youth justice models of justice, 3) by identifying comparative contemporary policy documents and conducting a thematic analysis, and 4) identifying convergence and divergence of both jurisdictions ideological and youth justice model alignment over the proceeding decades.

This chapter will outline the scientific steps taken to achieve this.

3.2. Methods

The research process began with an interest around youth justice. In preparation to produce a research proposal, ideas, and topics around youth justice were written out, which supported ability to build and expand upon these ideas. To establish feasibility in the potential research topics, a review of related literature was conducted, to establish if there was sufficient literature available, what methods may be needed and if the concept was realistic to conduct within the time constraints. In relation to conducting primary or secondary research, it was decided that due to the constraints of the project, secondary research would be the most appropriate. Although there were several ideas, one of significant interest was chosen for the research proposal. This involved outlining the research area, possible research question, background to the topic and available literature and sources on the topic. This proposal was submitted, to be reviewed and a dissertation supervisor was assigned by the university. After contacting, and meeting with the dissertation supervisor, this allowed for discussion on the area, and development, and refinement of the research that was important, interesting, and realistic within practical constraints. With some general knowledge and research into the topic area, research questions and methods that would be appropriate were established and researched. This ensured that the entire research project would be conducted rigorously. Due to this, notes were kept from the beginning of the research project on steps taken, and decisions made. Methods are guided by research questions, and study objectives, however these questions may continue to be refined throughout the progression of the project (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Methodology is a strategy that guides the choice of methods and what method is appropriate for use (Crotty, 1989). Different research aims require different methodological approaches. This paper consisted of desk-based research. The aim of this desk-based research included to systematically review the literature surrounding area including models of youth justice and critical exploration of the legislation, the Young People and their Families Act 1989 in New Zealand (NZ), and the Childrens Act, 2001 in Ireland. Following on from this, a Thematic Analysis (TA) was conducted, to analyse the most current youth justice strategies in Ireland and New Zealand, establishing common themes or models of youth justice found within these strategies. The use of both these desk-based approaches of a literature review and a TA, allowed for discussion to answer the overarching research question asking if Ireland and NZ have maintained the models of justice in the current strategies that were found to be prominent within the respective legislation.

3.2.1. Literature review

A literature review is a method providing a comprehensive overview of prior research on a specific topic (Denney & Tewksbury, 2013). It is a critical appraisal of published literature by qualified and accredited scholars and researchers in a field of study (Faryadi, 2018). The purpose of a literature review is to share results of other studies related to the current research topic (Fraenkel & Wallen, 1990 in Denney & Tewksbury, 2013). The use of a literature review fits well into the current research paper, as it allows the study to relate to the larger, ongoing discourse in the literature (Marshall & Rossman, 1989). This allows for the current research study to be related to the previous literature and add to it through its findings and discussion. A literature review is a good method for this research paper as it provided a framework to establish the basis, and importance of the current study (Creswell, 1994 in Denney & Tweksbury, 2013). The literature review provides the background, and justification for the purpose of the current paper, and the methods used. The document goes through changes as more understanding and information is gathered, along with a need for more specific focuses Through a literature review, theories and previous research are identified which influence the present research topic choice (Ridley, 2008). A comprehensive literature review includes all the main themes and subthemes found within the general topic chosen for the study as an overview (Denney & Tewksbury, 2013). This aspect is particularly beneficial in this research paper, as the literature review provides an overview of themes and subthemes within the topic related to the research question, which leads on effectively to the thematic analysis of the policy.

3.2.1.1. Sources

The most appropriate sources to use in a literature review are academic journals and books (Denney & Tewksbury, 2013). Other sources commonly used include governmental publications, such as the relevant legislation that was used in this review. A literature review requires for both identification and critical discussion of the main findings related to a specific topic (Denney & Tweksbury, 2013). This involves, where possible including classic and the most recent studies on the topic to establish an in-depth understanding of the research topic (Denney & Tweksbury, 2013). As scientific knowledge accumulates quickly, keeping completely up to date on a topic can be challenging.

A key method to find sources is through online databases, such as through a university library website. These databases typically involve search processes using key words relating to the topic, producing results of resources that the university allows the students to have access to. University library websites typically feature academic journals, which are increasingly available for digital download, however some sources such as textbooks may only be available in physical books to loan from the library. Along with universities own database and search options, Maynooth University library website gives access to other databases, such as SCOPUS and JSTOR. This is beneficial, as often different databases return some unique sources, and may filter search results differently. Along with this, for example SCOPUS database on the search results page provides titles, author, and year of publication of sources, along with the abstract or chapter summary and a link to the full text all easily accessible on the search results page. Sources can also be saved on databases, such as on SCOPUS and the Maynooth university website. Although for the literature review in this paper, sources used that were online and had the option available were downloaded and saved to personal folders. Saving the sources in multiple ways ensured that important sources were not lost, and good organisation increased the ability to conduct a systematic literature review. Google scholar was useful particularly in relation to having some journal articles available, that are not available through the university library. When google scholar did not provide access to articles, or books, the search engine had some use in providing different search results to that of the library website. Despite the sources from the search not being open access on google scholar, often these titles were then searched on the library database which may have provided access.

3.2.1.2. Search terms

Creswell (2005) has outlined some important techniques of a literature search. These include to categorize keywords of the topic and search in online scholarly databases. Searches should

begin with general keywords, with the search being slowly narrowed down to be more specific (Creswell, 2005). Prior to the literature review, the purpose, objectives, and research questions for the study were identified, this ensures that the search and use of literature is based on relevant studies (Creswell, 2005). The literature review, in line with the research question required different search terms, ranging from broader, to more narrow specific searches. This would ensure that in line with the structure of a literature review, understanding, and later writing of the review could start off broadly, before detailing down into specific aspects. Search terms used at the beginning of the process included broad key terms such as 'youth justice New Zealand', and 'youth justice Ireland' following this, specific terms for the related legislation were used, with 'Young People and Their Families Act, 1989' and 'The Childrens Act, 2001'.

After finding and reading some literature, search terms began to become more specific based on my research question, rationale, and the justification for this research. To begin with, the same search term was used both for a search for Ireland, and NZ, being 'youth justice in Ireland' and 'youth justice in New Zealand'. However, an interesting finding was under the search of youth justice in Ireland, there were less results than under the search with NZ. This led to questioning methods, limitations, and search terms, if there was just more research available on NZ, or if a different search term was needed. Different terms were used for Ireland, for example using Republic of Ireland to aid the search. A search term 'New Zealand youth justice system influence on Ireland's 2001 Act' came up with almost 70000 results. Some of these results, had already been gathered through previous more basic searches. Despite searching for both New Zealand and Ireland together, most results spoke just about either Ireland or NZ, not both together. Due to a lack of specific results, the search moved from google scholar to the SCOPUS database, with a different search method including the 'and' feature, 'youth justice Ireland and New Zealand was searched, however this found just three results, none of which were suited to the research question. The availability of different databases and websites to search through was beneficial, particularly if one did not find any relevant information. Other search terms did not have as much of a significant difference between databases. The search term 'models of youth justice' was used both on Maynooth University Library website finding 8670 results, some of these were relevant, however from prior learning, one specific author who wrote on the four models of justice used in this research was not coming up. A specific search including the authors name 'models of youth justice McAra' found the relevant result. This highlighted the benefits of a thorough research process, and continuing the process on different databases, with different search terms as some results found differed each time. The

research process was continuous, as with more reading came more ideas and specificity for search terms. Subsequent searches included specific aspects such as 'welfare youth justice NZ' 'restorative justice NZ' 'Policy transfer' 'family interventions NZ', with each of these being search replacing NZ with Ireland. 'Restorative justice NZ' was not a specific enough term, as it had papers relating to the adult justice system, and restorative justice in different context, this term was refined to have more relevant results, however both this term and 'restorative youth justice NZ' had around 20000 results, which may suggest the significant amount of research on restorative youth justice when compared to any mention of restorative justice in NZ having a similar amount of results. The search 'youth justice in Ireland, family conferences' found 160000 results, with many results titles using restorative justice wording, and there were results for NZ included in this search despite not being within the search term. This highlighted how Ireland and NZ had complex interactions in youth justice and how NZ has influenced Ireland. An interesting point was an increased difficulty to find detail on family group conferences in Ireland, which was noted to refer to within the literature compared to those in NZ. Within each search, initially the search filter included 'all years'. After this, the search filter was changed to 'since 2019' to ensure more recent literature was included. An example of this, is a google scholar search for 'policy transfer Ireland and New Zealand youth justice' which found 44100 results, although many of these results were useful, this number of results could not be gone through to find the most relevant results. The search was refined to filter results 'from 2019' which reduced the results by over half with 16600 results. Although this is a significant number of results, it found more recent literature more readily than the previous search. As both older, and more recent literature was required, all searches involved this process of beginning generally, and refining to more recent. As literature was being selected, a conscious effort was made to where possible include a broad range of publication dates. The filter that remained consistent was to sort results within the chosen factors based on 'by relevance'. Although google scholar was useful in open access to some literature, and in signposting relevant titles, some literature was not open access, despite the abstract showing it was relevant to the study it could not be read. When this occurred, the title of the article was searched through the library website, which yielded results for some articles to access, however others were not on the website, or any of the databases such as the NEXIS database. However, despite this, the search often showed some other literature that was similar, and of use that the searches had not found yet. To have a comprehensive overview consisting of both classic literature on the topic up to the most recent literature, searches initially included a filter for 'all years' which allowed for the inclusion of literature that was older. To narrow down the search, and ensure that the most

recent research was considered, the search filter was then narrowed down to include literature 'from 2019'.

3.2.1.3. How literature was chosen

Selected papers should strengthen the research argument and help outline the objectives, goals, and purposes of your research (Faryadi, 2018). Using the academic libraries, primary and secondary sources were considered, with a focus on primary sources. The search included academic journals, books, theses, and dissertations. Under the search terms, especially with large amounts of search results, the first decisions on what pieces of literature may be relevant to this study involved looking at the titles. Within the titles, words that were looked for included some broad relevance, particularly in early stages of the research. If the title suggested the article, book, or book chapter may be of use, the next decision was based on reading the abstract of the article, or summary of the book chapter. Certain search engines, or databases allowed for more ease in this process with the abstract or summary available under the title on the search page which was beneficial to scan through for key terms and meanings. After reading the abstract, if the paper or chapter remained relevant to the research question, this piece of literature would be saved with systematic organisation as will be discussed in the next paragraph. As the research progressed, and understanding of the topics increased, the titles that were considered were more specific to aspects of the research. Throughout the process of filtering through the saved articles prior to reading, the next part of the paper looked at after the abstract was the findings, as this can provide key information on the relevance of a paper to the study (Denney & Tweksbury, 2013). Reading through each relevant source that was chosen, increased understanding of the topic, which had benefits including providing specific key search terms, and through finding further relevant sources from the bibliography or references section of this article. The literature chosen and read, often referenced other sources that were useful to include in the literature review, adding to the sources used. Read the abstract of the paper first, look for results and conclusion of the article in the abstract. This literature review used mainly primary literature which are sources that are original and documented in international journals and theses based on first hand work. This literature is peer reviewed (Faryadi, 2018). Some secondary literature was included which involves generalization where the information described does not come from the authors own work, but the author refers to work of others (Faryadi, 2018). However, where possible throughout this literature review, sources used in secondary literature, were then searched for, and read through the primary literature for the benefit of a comprehensive understanding from the original source. If the

primary literature was not accessible however had important information, then the secondary literature source was used.

3.2.1.4. Organisation and notes

Good organization of the literature intended to be read, and those that have been read is essential (Cresswell, 2005). Once relevant literature was identified it was saved to a folder for the literature review to ensure that papers were saved and organised systematically. The folder with literature review papers, or chapters included some sub-folders particularly for the more specific aspects of the topic, sub-folders included a folder for New Zealand, and a folder for Ireland, along with a folder for the models of youth justice. this systematic process of organising the literature was beneficial in ensuring the relevant literature was read and kept a track of including references. Along with the literature being saved in folders, a table was created in Microsoft OneNote to keep track of what literature had been read, and any sources seen in this paper that were relevant to find, add to folders and subsequently read. Rules of a literature review by Marco and Bourne (2013) that were followed include taking notes while reading the different literature sources (Marco & Bourne, 2013 in Faryadi, 2018). While reading the literature, evaluation questions such as does this discuss the heart of the research question, is the argument logical, or persuasive, and assessing if the researcher cited literature that agrees or disagrees with their findings (Faryadi, 2012). The key points, findings, evaluation of the literature and comments were added to the table to have this easily accessible, along with more detailed notes in a word document.

3.2.1.5. Write up

As this research is based on theory of the four models of justice to provide an idea of how criminal justice systems work, this theory was used to inform the literature review. After introducing the theory briefly, it is important to be reintroduced following a general overview of the topic. This allows for a broad understanding of the research question related to the literature review studies (Denney & Tweksbury, 2013). Following this structure, the literature review with the background comparison of policy transfer between Ireland and NZ, highlighting the benefits of using these countries within the study. In relation to the theory of models of justice, these models were introduced, and referred to in relation to Ireland and NZ later in the literature review. Using the funnelling concept toward a literature review, (Denney & Tweksbury, 2013). The literature review began with an introduction of the overall general idea of models, followed by a general overview of the legislation in Ireland and NZ. This allowed for definition of the topic, and general details around the research topic, before

focusing on specific aspects, and determined the scope of the investigation (Faryadi, 2018). The introduction also includes a preview of each aspect of the topic that will be discussed throughout the remainder of the literature review. Following this, in the main body with a critical evaluation of the literature, each theme/subtopic was placed in a sequential order, that makes logical sense with a smooth flow. This strengthens the discussion and intended argument, demonstrating a clear, comprehensive understanding of the literature and topic (Denney & Tweksbury, 2013). As the end of the literature review is a bridge to the present study, a clear and concise summary of the literature review is required (Denney & Tweksbury, 2013). This was achieved through the conclusion that summarized findings and related the findings to the current research. During the writing process, as suggested by Marco and Bourne (2013) the write up aimed to be critical and consistent, and finding a logical, smooth flowing structure between paragraphs. (Marco & Bourne, 2013 in Faryadi, 2018). These factors improved from the initial draft, through subsequent drafts and following feedback.

3.2.1.6. Referencing

Referencing for the literature review, and throughout this paper was conducted manually. This required systematic organisation, and records of all references used throughout the research process. This was done through the table of key points from each piece of literature that was read, with a column in the table containing the references, and another column containing sourced cited in this literature that would subsequently be read. Research that was read, and used within this paper contained a star and highlight beside the reference. These references were then added to a word document, and once the write up was completed the word document was checked with the literature review to ensure that all citations had the relevant reference. The referencing style used throughout this paper was Harvard referencing, while using a guide to this style to ensure accurate referencing each reference was double checked to ensure the right format for the type of literature such as journal article, book chapter and legislation. When an article was gathered from an online database, available to read online, a link to where the source was available was included where possible in the relevant references.

3.2.2. Thematic Analysis

As the literature established themes, based on the models of youth justice, this made a thematic analysis a good research method to follow. Due to its broad and flexible nature, Thematic Analysis (TA) has been used in various fields including psychology (Frith & Gleeson, 2004) and education (Halverson et al., 2014 in Lester et al., 2020). Theoretical flexibility of TA allows researchers in various disciplines to engage in theories and perspectives related to their

discipline which may lead to a more relevant and meaningful analysis (Lester et al., 2020). A benefit of this for the current research and supporting the use of TA in this paper is that due to this flexibility, TA can effectively be used through the framework of the four models of youth justice that this research paper is based on. Thematic analysis (TA) is a research method used to identify, analyse, and interpret patterns of meaning, or 'themes' within qualitative data (Clarke & Braun, 2017). Within this research, this approach is beneficial as the four models of justice, can be defined as themes seen throughout youth justice systems.

3.2.2.1. Thematic Analysis approach

As the literature established themes through the models of youth justice, this made a thematic analysis a good research method to follow. Within this research paper, the use of TA allowed for the models of youth justice to be used as the themes. TA could identify, analyse, and report patterns of each model of youth justice within the policy strategy documents. Rather than just describing data from the data set, TA allows for various aspects of the research topic to be interpreted (Boyatzis, 1998 in Braun & Clarke, 2006). Due to the qualitative nature of this research that is beneficial for use in discussion and answering the research question drawing meaningful conclusions. The version of TA used in this research paper was developed by Braun and Clarke (2006). This approach was chosen as it has been one of the most widely cited of the various versions of TA that may be used. The benefits of using a widely cited and used approach include the increased reliability and validity of the approach due to much research using the method, and the availability of literature on the basis, and process of the method to ensure this research could follow the approach rigorously. TA as used in this paper provides systematic procedures to generate codes, and themes from qualitative data. Codes, encapsulate interesting features of the qualitative data, including key aspects relevant to the research question, and are the smallest units of analysis (Clarke & Braun, 2017). Themes are larger patterns of meaning, with codes being the building blocks toward the development of this larger meaning found within the qualitative data (Clarke & Braun, 2017). Themes provide for the organization, and reporting of analytic observations made throughout the research process. Within this research, the use of TA following Braun and Clarke (2006) method, resulted in the establishment of codes which were organized through shared core ideas with the theme they were placed under. Rather than the strategies relevant to this study merely being summarized, the use of TA allowed the content of these strategies lead to interpretation of key features of the data, guided by the research question. TA has the benefit of methods including a two-stage review process resulting in rigorous and high-quality analysis (Clarke & Braun, 2017). The two-stage review process involves initial production of candidate codes within themes, which are then reviewed and refined with changes made as necessary against the coded data, and the entire dataset (Braun & Clarke, 2013). This strengthens the rigorous, scientific process of this research paper, the findings from the analysis, as it has gone through multiple stages of review ensuring accuracy.

3.2.2.2. Data

The data items used for the TA were three strategies related to youth justice in Ireland and New Zealand (NZ). The strategy from NZ was the Youth Crime Action Plan (YCAP) 2013-2023. The policy strategies used from Ireland were the Youth Justice Action Plan – Tackling Youth Crime (YJAP) 2014-2018 and the Youth Justice Strategy 2021-2027. Two strategies were used from Ireland, to ensure that the year timeframes covered in the TA for both Ireland and NZ covered as close to the same years as possible. This would increase the accuracy of the analysis, and comparability between the strategies. This increases the validity of the analysis, findings and discussion as the strategies are relating to similar time periods in both countries. Due to the research question looking at changes in models of youth justice over time, this is essential in ensuring that changes that occurred were over similar timeframes in both countries. The Youth Justice Strategy (YJS) 2021-2027 in Ireland was chosen after the strategy being cited in literature from the literature review. As the methods were known to the researcher while conducting the literature review, this results in attention being paid to the mention of policies and strategies, to note down and assess if they were suitable for the TA. A google search of the strategy resulted in the first result showing on the google search page a definition of the strategy, which suited the research so the full strategy was searched and found. After finding a PDF of the strategy online, downloading it and saving to a policy analysis folder and looking through it, the researcher concluded it contained the necessary features that would work for the research question. Due to this, a search was completed online to find if there was a similar youth justice strategy from NZ. A search term of 'New Zealand youth justice strategy' was used, to have similar wording as the strategy from Ireland. The first result consisted of a Youth Offending Strategy by the Ministry of Social Development, with a definition of the strategy on the search page. However, from this definition, it became clear that this strategy was not comparable with the one from Ireland, as it had a different focus. To ensure that despite this, this strategy was not more appropriate than the one from Ireland, the PDF was viewed, however it did not align with the research question, and was dated April 2002, making it outside of the timeline for the research question to be as current as possible. The second result on the google search page was the Youth Crime Action Plan (YCAP) with a definition that related both to the

research question, and the strategy from Ireland. The first PDF related to the strategy was a factsheet, which detailed that the YCAP was relevant for the years 2013-2023. The PDF of the full strategy was more difficult to locate than the one from Ireland, however after going through several links to the ministry of justice webpage that did not work, the ministry of justice of NZ website was searched through google. However, options on this website, did not lead to the full strategy. Another search put through google was 'Youth Crime Action Plan New Zealand, which resulted in a link to the full YCAP report. Due to the difference in dates between the YJS 2021-2027 and the YCAP 2013-2023, 'Youth Crime Action Plan New Zealand 2023' was searched through google to see if anything more recent had been published. However, the YCAP 2013-2023 covers until the end of 2023, and at the time of this research the next strategy to start had not been published yet. The possible benefits and limitations to this were considered, and upon discussion with the research supervisor, it was decided that to bring the two as close in years as possible, this study would include the YCAP 2013-2023, the YJS 2021-2027, and to include the years from 2013 like the NZ strategy, the analysis from Ireland would also include the Youth Justice Action Plan – Tackling Youth Crime 2014-2018. This brings the years as near as possible between strategies from Ireland and NZ, however the research has a limitation of the strategies not being the same years. This may have some effects on findings, for example with Irelands current strategy being created more recently than NZ's that was created in 2013 and will only be in use until the end of 2023. This may lead to Ireland strategy containing aspects that are based on more recent contexts and situations than when NZs was created in 2013. However, with NZs strategy having more time to be implemented, the findings of this research could be beneficial in using this to compare to their 2024+ strategy when it is published, and to guide Irelands next strategy.

3.2.2.3. Thematic Analysis process

In line with the steps outlined by Braun and Clarke (2006), in conducting the thematic analysis (TA) the process began at phase one with reading through each of the strategy documents, getting familiar with the content and noticing aspects that may have potential interest to the research question within the data. The entire data set was read through twice before coding began, which was of benefit as it enhanced the identification of patterns upon coding. Now, the second phase was able to be commenced once the data was familiar, and an initial list of ideas about the data were established. The second phase involves producing initial codes from the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Codes identify a feature of the data interesting to the analysis and refer to the most basic aspect of the data that can be assessed related to the research topic in a

meaningful way (Boyatzis, 1998 in Braun & Clarke, 2006). This coding process is part of analysis (Miles & Huberman, 1994) with data being organised into meaningful groups (Tuckett, 2005). Given that the analysis was more 'theory-driven', the data was approached with specific themes in mind to be coded around. Coding was conducted manually, using a PDF reader, each of the policy documents were read through, with different sentences and wording being highlighted. At this stage, colour coded highlighting was used, with a different colour being used for each theme, or model of justice. Sentences or wording that may have fit into multiple themes, were highlighted under both, to be reviewed at a later stage. The entire data set was worked through systematically, with equal and considerate attention given to each data item. To ensure all data extracts were coded, and then collated together within each code, a separate word document was created containing a table with a coding framework, with columns for theme, code, and the quotes/extracts taken from the document that had been highlighted for each code. There was a significant number of extracts at this stage, with extracts containing some added information either within the quote, or through the comment function on the word document to ensure that the context of where the quote was taken from, and the overall meaning was kept. This was beneficial to mitigate against the common criticism of coding that context can be lost through the process (Bryman, 2001). Many extracts were placed into codes in multiple themes, as certain words, or features of an extract, even of a single sentence were relevant in more than one theme. Through the third stage, themes were searched for (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Although there were four themes known as they were based on the models of justice being used in this research, sub-themes, and a 'theme' called miscellaneous were created. Codes were reviewed, going into themes, or sub-themes with some codes being moved, and some being discarded. To keep a track of the process, and how codes, and subthemes emerged, different word documents were created as the codes, and themes/sub themes were defined. This allowed a record of the coding frameworks prior to changes being made, and for the latest version of the framework to be clear. Phase four began with candidate themes established and involved refining of the themes and codes. Some codes were moved, some discarded, and some joint together. Following Patton's (1990) dual criteria for judging categories, external heterogeneity and internal homogeneity, data within themes fit together meaningfully, while a clear distinction between them remained. All extracts were read over and considered to ensure they fit, and if they did not, they were reworked or discarded. Each of the three strategies was then re-read, to ensure the themes and codes were suitable in relation to the entire data set, and to code any additional extracts that may have previously been missed. This need from re-coding from the data set is expected due to the continuous process of coding

(Braun & Clarke, 2006). Refinement, and re-reading continued several more times, until this process was not adding anything more significant. For the fifth phase, data was defined, and refined identifying the core of each theme. Data extracts for each theme were organised into codes which were reworked and renamed to capture each relevant aspect of the data, while maintaining comments within the word document to keep the accompanying narrative surrounding the data extracts. In line with Braun & Clarke's (2006) guidance, each theme, although distinguishable from other themes, was considered in relation to itself, and to the other themes. Phase six, the final phase was producing the write up on the TA to complete the final analysis. This process that was completed within the discussion section of this dissertation provides the complex story of the data, including some data extracts through providing concise, logical, non-repetitive and interesting account in line with Braun & Clarkes process (Braun & Clarke, 2006). The write up of the data's story related to the research question requires sufficient evidence of the themes within the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Due to this, vivid extracts that encapsulate the key features were chosen. In addition to providing extracts of the data, the write up must include an analytic narrative to illustrate the story about the data, moving past description to make an argument in relation to the research question (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Along with this, this dissertation combined the analytic narrative from the TA, with comparisons to the data from the literature review to lead to a robust discussion surrounding the overall research question. The combination of the TA analyst narrative and broadening of the analysis to an interpretative level relating claims to existing literature is in line with a best-practice example of TA detailed by Braun and Clarke (2006) that was published by Frith & Gleeson (2004). Following the guidance on TA, resulted in its use as a method of analysis that was applied rigorously to the data.

Analysis included a continuous movement back and forth between the whole data set, the coded extracts, and the analysis that is being produced, with analysis developing over time (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Ely et al., 1997 in Braun & Clarke, 2006). Writing is a key aspect of analysis that occurs throughout the process, beginning in phase one, noting ideas, and potential coding schemes, through to the completion of the coding process (Braun & Clarke, 2006). The relevant literature was engaged with prior to the TA, due to the deductive method used, and purpose of the TA. This, enhanced analysis as the research was sensitised to more subtle features of the data based on prior reading (Tuckett, 2005). The TA required enough time available to thoroughly work through the steps of the research process, moving back and forth between the stages as needed to refine and strengthen the analysis.

Norwell and colleagues (2017), outlined a step-by-step approach to conduct trustworthy TA, based on the steps set out by Braun and Clarke (2006). Some of these steps set out by Norwell and colleagues (2017) were beyond the possibility withing the scope of this paper, however elements were used where possible to increase the trustworthiness of the current research. Steps that were followed throughout the TA include the storing of raw data in well-organised folders, and thoughts surrounding potential codes/themes were documented. Peer debriefing was conducted throughout the coding process through discussion with course colleagues, and with the research supervisor resulting in team consensus of the themes and coding. Summaries of these discussions were kept and referred to when needed. A coding framework was used to document all codes, themes, subthemes, and extracts, with different versions of the document saved as the codes were refined to keep a document trail from the original first framework through to the final refined work. Extracts of the coding framework, with exemplar codes and extracts for each theme is included in Appendix 1. A criticism of TA includes that the flexibility of the process can lead to inconsistencies (Holloway & Todres, 2003). However, consistency can be promoted through making epistemological position that underpins the studies claims explicit (Holloway & Todres, 2003).

3.2.2.4. Write up/analysis

More instances of the theme across the data set does not necessarily mean that this theme is more important (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Researcher judgement and knowledge is necessary. The importance of a theme may not be measurable through the number of codes found under a given theme (Braun & Clarke, 2006). In this research, the importance of a theme, was not based solely on the number of codes under it, as using researcher judgment and based off existing knowledge relating to the research questions, some codes were of higher significance to the research question than others. Due to the different substance in different codes, the presence of more codes was not the main aspect, rather the qualitative nature of each code, and the meaning this carried related to the research question were a key focus within the discussion. After, and during the TA process, a checklist by Braun & Clarke (2006) was used without inclusion of the elements related to transcription as that is not relevant to this TA. To ensure that the TA was of high standard this concise checklist of criteria to consider when determining whether you have generated a good thematic analysis ensured the TA was of a high standard improving the strength of this study.

Chapter 4: Discussion

This chapter is going to critically discuss the core themes that arose from the policy documents and their relationship to the models of justice outlined above.

4.1. Age of Criminal Responsibility

The Youth Justice Action Plan 2014-2018 from Ireland (YJAP) highlights that there are limitations of justice interventions just including 12–17-year-olds. This is a significant acknowledgment, and highlights a move, even if just a conceptual, ideological movement without action, toward a more welfare view to the culpability of a young person over the age of 17, which in line with empirical research remains reduced until into the 20's up until even 30 years of age. This is mentioned in the YJAP in relation to late onset offending, which is significantly relevant to the age limits of the justice system of 17, as those who do not offend until early adulthood, or over 17 years have been faced into the adult justice system which is not appropriate to their needs. This was highlighted through the literature review. However as noted, this limitation to the age limit of 17 is also relevant to those who first offend under this age. Young people who offend under the age of 17, who receive a period of detention that lasts past 17 years face a transfer to an adult prison from the detention centre.

"Appropriate interventions for young people with a late onset of offending in early adulthood in line with international evidence on desistence, acknowledging the limitations of looking solely at 12–17-year-olds." (YCAP, 2014-2018 pg.20).

Building upon this, the most recent strategy from Ireland takes these acknowledgments of limits of 17 being the oldest young people under the youth justice system and the related considerations with plans to include those up to 24 years within the ethos of the youth justice system rather than the adult system. The Youth Justice Strategy 2021-2027 (YJS) speaks of aims to "pursue enhanced effective services for young adults (18-24 years) on release from prison" (YJS, 2021-2027, pg. 28). Inclusion of those over 17 in the YJS refers to elements such as responding to the needs of young adults aged 18-24 years in the prison system, with the aim of protecting against re-offending, and supporting their rehabilitation and personal development (YJS 2021-2027, pg. 27). Although this is in relation to those in custody within adult prisons, it highlights a move away from the punitive, just deserts approach for this age group toward including them in meeting their welfare needs as they do for those under 18. This is along with their aim to develop general protocols to manage the care of these young adult offenders in the prison system (YJS, 2021-2027, pg. 27). Criticism of those over 17, and certain

young offenders being sent to adult courts, receiving adult sentences, and possibly being placed in an adult prison as seen in the literature, may be improved through aims of the YJS 2021-2027. They aim to increase approaches to effective engagement and diversion for the 18-24 age group (YJS, 2021-2027, pg. 13). This is within the context in Ireland of possible improved approaches to drug and alcohol use, including a Health Diversion approach to drug possession offences. This inclusion of 18–24-year-olds fits into, and compliments other strategic policies, including those related to mental health, the health led response to drug and alcohol use, Community Safety Strategy and Better Outcomes Brighter Futures- the National Policy Framework for Children and Young Adults (BOBF). The YJS 2021-2027 under the welfare theme includes codes of working in collaboration with health and welfare-based agencies and policies, included the BOBF. The BOBF includes 18-24-year-olds which suggests a wider change in Ireland, with the inclusion of children and young adults (18-24), rather than just children up to 17. Although this is a positive move in line with developmental research to include young adults and separate them from fully developed adult approaches the YJS mention of this age group is around aims to develop approaches for their inclusion. For example, they aim to develop pilot approaches for diversion for 18-24-year-olds (YJS, 2021-2027, pg. 23). This may take some time to develop, then implement pilot approaches, and based on the success of this the possibility of then rolling out This is rather than actual plans to be implemented, it is in an earlier stage of development. Due to various influences such as changing opinion, public outcry due to moral panics and resource restraints, a drive to continue development and implementation of this may change. This requires monitoring, and perhaps increase evidence based, awareness and public education surrounding the vulnerability of young people up until at least this age to gather public and political support to ensure strategic plans are fully implemented for this age group. These plans to increase welfare supports for this age group includes effective services for young adults upon release from prison. This in turn strengthens and improves the scope of impact of elements of the restorative model to young adults, their family and community. The inclusion of this age group into consideration of the youth justice system strategy highlights a move to further develop and build upon the welfare ethos under the 1989 and 2001 Act. Although this is not changing the overall model used, it expands the scope, and the effects of the models of youth justice.

"...respond as far as possible to the needs for young adults (18-24 years) in the prison system, to protect against further criminal involvement and support rehabilitation and personal development." (YJS, 2021-2027, pg. 27).

In contrast to this, the YJS mentions those under 12 years. This includes for research on, and assessment of the effectiveness of policy including "effective engagement with under 12's and appropriate family supports" pg. 42. The mention of this age group within research on effective engagement and family supports may not suggest a more punitive approach depending on the content and aims of this research. This may involve those between ages 10-12 who are able to be charged with a serious offence through the 2001 Act and aim to improve family-based supports for these children. However, in contrast, it could suggest that the youth justice system is increasing their focus on this age group. This age group under the 2001 Act may be involved in the Diversion Programme, which has significant limitations as discussed in the literature review. Although interventions such as diversion may be welfare based, the involvement of those who cannot be criminally responsible in this programme highlights some signs of a more punitive view of young people. Due to these contrasting mentions of inclusion of 18–24-yearolds and mentioning of under 12-year-olds in the YJS without significant context surrounding the aims of this, monitoring into future policy and practice may be needed to assess, and track any changes that occur in either direction of increased involvement of under 12s in the youth justice system even through diversion, and the inclusion of 18–24-year-olds. These two factors, have opposite effects on prominent models of justice used, as inclusion of 18-24 highlights an increasing use of the welfare approach, whereas inclusion of under 12-year-olds may be more justice based in diversion holding them accountable, or even actuarial if their involvement is based on risk of offending at the age of criminal responsibility.

4.2. Young Peoples Needs

Although agencies outside of the criminal justice system are mentioned in the legislation in Ireland and NZ, this is based on their assistance for the justice agencies, or referral to these services if there are care and protection needs. In addition to the limited specialised training of those involved in the justice system, along with cultural inappropriateness, improved specialised knowledge can improve the alignment with a welfare approach to youth justice. As a criticism of traditional justice agencies, and actors within the system is the inappropriateness of the interventions for children based on their developmental stage and vulnerability a focus on making these interventions appropriate for their needs may mitigate against some negative effects of the continued reliance on justice agencies. Mention of the needs of young people in the Strategy YJAP 2014-2018 include mental health, health, social needs, transitions toward adulthood, housing, education, reintegration with acknowledgment of their continuing development and vulnerability. Although several of these elements may be known risk factors,

they are mentioned within the welfare theme as the stated purpose of meeting these needs is not stated to be based on reducing crime or is stated to improve personal development and life outcomes for this vulnerable group. Although aims of meeting this needs are stated to be improving life outcomes which fits in with the welfare model, a second aim is to reduce reoffending. This highlights that these needs are a focus both for a welfare, and actuarial risk-factor basis. However, it is possible that reducing re-offending is a secondary aim, that will be the result of improved personal development and life outcomes. This highlights alignment with the welfare model and ethos underlying youth justice with young peoples needs being a key consideration.

"Improved service provision, including education, health, mental health and social needs, for young people in detention with a view to enhancing their personal development and life outcomes; reducing re-offending; and addressing the needs of those involved in persistent, serious and prolific crime." (YJAP 2014-2018, p.24).

4.3. Interagency approach

Awareness of young people's needs and development leading to more appropriate outcomes would require those within the relevant agencies, and policy makers to be knowledgeable on the various needs specific for young people. The YCAP mentions the array of team members with different skills required who would have this knowledge: "Skills of team members will include social work, psychology, speech and language therapy, social care and addiction." (YJAP, 2014-2018 pg. 24). The development of the YJS was guided by the full range of issues related to children and young people. Interventions are to occur regarding a young person's sense of time, and rather than a young person being viewed as an offender, they are to "be treated as children first..." (YJS 2021-2027, pg. 7). The YJS involves collaboration with other agencies throughout, to produce a holistic, 'wrap around' response to the needs of children and young people at risk in the specific family and community context" (YJS, 2021-2027,pg. 1). The YCAP contains the code of specialist knowledge for needs and vulnerability of young people. Youth court judges, youth advocates and lay advocates are stated in the YCAP 2013-2023 to have specialist training, experience, personality, and cultural understanding (YCAP, 2013-2023, pg. 29 & 30). Other specialist knowledge mentioned includes for people with alcohol and other drugs (AOD) and mental health issues in court, police specialist youth experience and professionals for medical, psychiatric, or psychological, educational, cultural, and social work reports. – cultural benefits. The increased focus of interagency responses, and specialised training for those within the youth justice system, maintains the welfare ethos

underlying youth justice interventions in New Zealand and Ireland. However, it may lead to more holistic welfare outcomes, and reduce the limitations found through the literature review of inappropriate decision making by justice staff with lack of training, and the criminogenic effect of involvement with the criminal justice system. The increased alignment with the welfare model including referrals to the appropriate agencies may mitigate against criticisms of a strict welfare basis however this increase in welfare basis occurring in combination with the features of the justice model that protect young peoples rights is beneficial.

4.4. Diversion

Within the YJAP and the YJS from Ireland, diversion is mentioned in terms of diversion from the criminal justice system, from conviction and to divert young people from offending behaviour and crime. The strategy states it follows on from the first National Youth Justice Strategy, 2008-2010, and underpins policies and principles of diversion. The Irish Youth Justice System (IYJS) responsibility for driving youth justice reform by focusing on diversion and rehabilitation (YJAP, 2014-2018, pg.3). The Strategy 2021-2027 details strengthening the procedures for "Diversion to minimise delays and ensure fully informed and transparent decision-making processes." (YJS, 2021-2027 pg. 11). This, combined with findings from the literature review surrounding lack of legal advice for young people and their families who participate in diversion is significant, and highlights an increase on justice model elements within diversion. Diversion programmes are to be linked with educational institutions, Drugs Task Force Projects, community development, employment, and training agencies (YJS, 2021-2027, pg. 13). This may be of benefit, as not only does it meet the young people's needs in these specialised areas, but it may reduce labelling effect of contact with the criminal justice system, as the non-criminal justice agencies will be involved in key areas rather than justice agencies.

"Protocol to divert young people from conviction agreed and implemented." Pg. 23

The 2021-2027 Strategy, building upon this protocol with diversion as a key objective, states that diversion from the formal youth justice system is to be used to the greatest extent possible. The YCAP states that a significant portion of children and young people are dealt with outside the formal justice system (YCAP 2013-2023, pg. 1). This finding in in support of the literature surrounding the use of diversion in New Zealand. In Ireland, along with the 12–17-year-olds upon which diversion was focused on, diversion is mentioned in relation to 18–24-year-olds (YJS, 2021-2027, pg. 13). Necessary steps are to be examined for the establishment of

diversion for those ages 18-24, in line with the development of the Health Diversion approach and community supports (YJS, 2021-2027, pg. 23). This highlights increase in the scope of the welfare model to include more young people. The YJS details that GYD will be rebranded as youth support projects, without altering the involvement of the Gardai in oversight and management. This rebranding may mitigate against the criminogenic effects of the programme containing Garda, increasing the welfare benefits, however the maintenance of the Gardai in oversight and management may limit this.

4.5. Traditional Justice Agencies

Codes found within all three policy documents include criminal justice agencies and actors, crime control aims, proportionality, due process rights and transparency. These elements with their importance outlined in the literature may improve the sense of fairness of the youth justice system for those involved in it, which may increase their willingness to work with the process. Within the YJS traditional justice professionals and facilities although maintain some similarities within the youth justice system with the traditional adult justice system. This highlights Irelands preservation of these actors and agencies based within the traditional justice system that keeps the system, and its interventions to the justice model. Similarly, the YCAP mentions traditional justice elements including court processes, ensuring the principles of the legislation are upheld by the court, judges, detention, and remand. Like the mentioning of justice agencies in both strategies in Ireland, the mention of these agencies in the YCAP 2013-2023 in some extracts involves elements relating to bringing these agencies in line with an ethos linked more closely with the other models of youth justice. For example, in a best practice scenario within the YCAP, 2013-2023, upon police apprehension, the officer conducts a background check on the young person on their phone which links the operation of the police with the actuarial model (YCAP, 2013-2023, pg. 21). This highlights elements of the justice model remain, as does the connection of justice aspects within other models.

4.6. FGCs in New Zealand

Despite FGCs being legislated for in Ireland, there is no mention of FGCs within the most recent policy the YJS. The only mention of FGCs is within Appendix 1 detailing indicative schedule of areas for amendment in the Children Act 2001. Here, it is mentioned that FGCs are not used often in practice. Despite both policies from Ireland not mentioning FGCs, they maintain a focus on family through mention of re-integration of the young person into their family, (YJAP, 2014-2018, pg. 24), within review of Garda Station and Court based processes regard is to be given to the desirability of family friendly processes (YJS, 2021-2027,pg. 30),

within the multi-agency framework to engage with family to support the young person (YJS, 2021-2027, pg. 28) and in relation to Garda Youth Diversion Projects and family support. This highlights that although FGCs are not a feature there is some consideration of the family within interventions, including diversion in place of an FGC. Within the YCAP they outline the necessity for evidence to be of a good standard, and work to determine benefits of legal representation at non-court ordered FGCs. The YCAP details the need for substantive evidence as required by law for the offence to be on file, and to be of a standard that would be sufficient evidence to mount a prosecution before Police can take an Alternative Action. This is significant and brings NZs FGCs in line with the recommendations outlined by the United Nations Assembly and Commission on the Rights of the Child. This maintains the welfare basis of FGCs, with increases to the legal, and justice model protections within FGCs.

"This action involves work to determine the benefits of legal representation at non-court ordered FGCs." (YCAP, 2013-2023, pg. 38).

4.7. Restorative and Victims

Although victims were mentioned in the legislation in Ireland and NZ with attention to their needs, as identified in the literature review, the restorative justice basis came after the Acts, when it was after identified as having restorative processes despite this not being the direct intention. The explicit mention of restorative practices and principles within the policies show evidence of this, as policy now includes restorative principles explicitly.

The YJAP 2014-2018 mentions a focus on victims of crime and specifies for the inclusion of victims who are children and young people. This is significant due to the disadvantaged mentioned through the literature faced by many within the youth justice system, and the known risk factors that may lead to them being at increased risk of victimisation. The Strategy states the commitment to further developing victim services using restorative interventions, which is an important element to note within this analysis, as it highlights the progression of focus on the victim developing over time.

Although victims are mentioned in the YJS 2021-2027, discussion of restorative practices in this strategy are not significantly victim centred and are referred to as child/family centred approaches. "..as well as supporting interagency case-management and child/family centred approaches (e.g. Meitheal or restorative practices)..." (YJS, 2021-2027, pg. 23). The YJS mentions restorative practices in relation to having interventions from professionals working in restorative practices and the promotion of restorative practices. The analysis of the YCAP

found mentions of training of staff in restorative justice and practices. These planned actions are necessary if restorative interventions are to meet the needs of all those involved in the process, as untrained facilitators could lead to negative outcomes. Due to the sensitivity, and vulnerability of both youth offenders and victims specialised skills are essential to ensure harmful shaming or (re)traumatisation do not occur. This explicit mention and focus on restorative practice, increases both youth justice systems explicit relation to the restorative model in addition to the focus on victims, and FGCs that already existed in NZ, and Ireland. These factors suggest an increased purposeful alignment in recent policy with the restorative model compared to the legislation.

4.8. Actuarial

Elements of the Actuarial model, not significantly seen through the literature review in Ireland and NZ include significant focus on evidence-based practices, data relating to this and the justice system, research and cost-effectiveness. Risk is evident within the policies through indirect mention of known risk factors, explicit mention of risk factors, risk assessments and early intervention for those at risk. These codes found within the policies are not seen in the legislation in Ireland or New Zealand.

An increased understanding of youth crime, allows a more data-driven and evidence informed approach (YJAP, 2014-2018 pg. 4). Along with benefits of an evidence-based approach for more effective, appropriate, and consistent practices, this leads to better value for money (YJAP, 2014-2018, pg. 8). The YCAP 2013-2023 included the code of evidence-based programmes, using growing evidence for service provision, and reviewing existing services. To ensure that these evidence-based effective interventions are used, the Strategy 2014-2018 includes the development of policy to inform best practice and ensure young people's rights are met with their voice being heard. These focused and effective interventions are mentioned in relation to GYDPs, and detention facilities. Along with mention of these specific settings, best practice, based on evidence-informed intervention has a broad overarching aim of systemic change in the youth justice system.

"Innovation and practice excellence encouraged, resulting in improved social outcomes through a significant and systemic change in the youth justice system." (The Strategy, 2014-2018, pg.23).

An evidence base requires data, and research with the collected data. The Strategy 2014-2018 notes the ongoing challenge of limited data on youth offending. Data may determine where

resources are focused and can help State agencies identify areas where things are working, and changes needed to be made (YJAP). For example, with the aim of reduced offending, data is needed to assess the levels of actual offending reductions to assess how effective interventions are. Improved data collection can lead to increased understanding of youth crime patterns, consistent robust data, tracking of pathways through the youth justice system and to measure outcomes, assessing how effective measures are. In addition to data sharing throughout Ireland, to keep up with, contribute to and in line with the globalisation of crime data, and research studies across different countries mentioned in The YJAP 2014-2018 are beneficial. Māori are specifically mentioned in the YCAP 2013-2023 in relation to improving NZ evidence of 'what works' for this group (YCAP, 2013-2023, pg. 41). Likewise, ethnic minorities, and groups disproportionately represented in the justice system are a focus of data in the YJS. This is particularly relevant with findings in the literature review of the inappropriateness of interventions for Māori communities. Statistics are used within The Strategy 2014-2018 to strengthen their points, however comparisons using statistics and data requires some standard definitions to ensure that like is being compared with like. An added difficulty within youth justice is the various age brackets that are included in different countries. However, with this, data protection legislation needs to be adhered to. Using this data, research can be conducted and used to inform service and policy development which has occurred as part of the development of the Strategy 2021-2027.

Risk

A code within all three strategies is young people who are at risk, risk factors and risk assessment. Those who are deemed to be at risk, are identified using risk factor informed risk assessments. Young people who are "at risk of getting into trouble" (YJAP, 2014-2018, pg. 2) are mentioned in relation to using early interventions to target these young people. This includes through GYDPs, a Health Service Executive run specialist team providing therapeutic services in the community, services targeting parenting, early attachment, improvements in school and other factors. With knowledge of the actuarial model, and related risk factors as discussed in the literature review, analysis identified some of these risk factors mentioned in the strategy although not defined there as risk factors. These include strategies and services targeting parenting, early attachment, improvements at school, reducing drug and alcohol misuse, mental health, and poverty (YJAP, 2014-2018 pg. 8 and 25). Risk factors are explicitly mentioned in The Strategy 2021-2027, such as naming socio-economic circumstances, child and family welfare issues as having a link to youth offending. Risk assessment tools to identify

those at risk, reducing risk of re-offending and early intervention are a focus within the YCAP. Young people deemed at risk, are aimed to be engaged with prior to entering the justice system (YJS, 2021-2027, pg.1). However, this may not involve justice-based agencies, with the strategy aiming to establish ways to improve the range of positive leisure time and developmental activities available to young people at risk.

These elements highlight alignment with the actuarial model of justice in both Ireland and NZ through recent policy through explicit focus on an evidence base, data and risk.

Chapter 5: Conclusion and recommendations

This research has a convergence in Ireland and New Zealand with the models of youth justice laid down through legislation with recent policy. Ireland has an added focused on elements of the actuarial model in recent policy compared to that within the legislation. Ireland and New Zealand have converged further with models of justice used within both countries, with Ireland and New Zealand both using a hybrid model containing just deserts, welfare, restorative, and actuarial elements. While there were elements of the actuarial model within the legislation in New Zealand, other features of the actuarial model have emerged in New Zealand policy, with the introduction of actuarial concepts in Ireland. Despite this convergence in models used, specifics within these models have demonstrated some divergence, with policy stating explicitly things that may have been implied previously but did not have as clear a focus withing legislation.

The key features of the just deserts/justice model include accountability and responsibility for the young offender, rational choice and responsibility for the consequences of their actions, punishment, meeting due process rights, and meeting a crime control aim. The features of the just deserts model identified throughout the literature review were accountability for their behaviour, proportionality justice-based agencies involvement and traditional justice processes such as youth courts, and crime control aims. This highlights the continued presence of aims and ethos related to the just deserts model in both Ireland and New Zealand. As within the literature, they are intertwined with these justice elements are features of the welfare models. These include rehabilitative interventions and processes even within these justice-based processes. Features of the restorative model are also apparent even within these justice-based findings, for example with court ordered family group conferences. Elements of the restorative model such as a focus on the victim within all youth justice interventions highlights how this is an underlying principle within the justice systems. Restorative features intertwine into the element of the other models. Although it is noted that restorative principles were not the basis of the legislation, the restorative model is an explicit feature of both the Irish and New Zealand criminal justice system. Elements of different models do not just feature within both youth justice systems, they interact, and add to each other resulting in a hybrid model of youth justice evident in Ireland and New Zealand. The inclusion of consideration of young adults aged 18-24 in Irelands policies, highlights movement toward increasing the scope of the welfare basis, to include young adults. Although this is related more to the inclusion of more young people within the youth justice system than an overall change in the justice system, it may suggest a changing view in Ireland of the culpability of those into their 20s which is in line with developmental research. In contrast, Ireland mentions a goal to engage with those under 12, which is under the age of criminal responsibility. However, this may not represent a significant change, due to factors such as inclusion of under 12-year-olds in the justice system through diversion, or for certain serious offences. The welfare-based meeting of young people's needs is maintained in current policy, with an increased focus on using an inter-agency approach to better meet the needs of young people. Within both legislations, although child welfare services may be used to assist the courts, the interagency approach was not as significant. This may reduce criminogenic effects, if the young person can be referred to the appropriate service however requires caution as to not increase justice interventions based on welfare needs. The focus on diversion which is based on the welfare model to meet the best interests of the child is maintained in policy in New Zealand and Ireland. In addition, a change in the name, and a rebranding of the Garda Diversion Programme to be a 'Support project' may suggest an increased alignment with a welfare model basis; however, it maintains the traditional justice system with the involvement of the Gardai remaining. Other justice features identified through policy is transparent decision-making processes as this may impact the informed decision making in this process. FGCs remain a key feature within policy in New Zealand, however, have lost their focus within policy in Ireland. Although this may not overall change the hybrid model used in Ireland, a key feature of the original legislation is no longer relevant to the policy which even without a model of youth justice change, highlights a change within youth justice in Ireland. However, this change, may bring policy more in line with what was occurring in practice, with Gardai less focused on FGCs with increased focus on restorative cautions. FGCS in New Zealand faced a limitation of not meeting children's rights. Improving upon this, a focus with FGCS in the New Zealand policy is legal protections. Although elements of the restorative model were within the provisions of legislation in Ireland and NZ indirectly, the recent policy in Ireland and New Zealand maintains a victim focus and introduces explicit aims of restorative practices and processes. Elements of the actuarial model are more evident through recent policy in both Ireland and New Zealand, focus on evidence-based interventions, data and risk are apparent within both countries. Cost-effectiveness related to the actuarial model is seen in policy in Ireland. These changes, and remaining similarities suggest that both Ireland and New Zealand have maintained hybrid models. Although some aspects have changed New Zealand has maintained a hybrid model including just deserts, welfare and restorative and actuarial. Ireland, has maintained just deserts, welfare and restorative and the actuarial model has been introduced into the hybrid model of youth justice in Ireland. As each model comes with its benefits and limitations, a hybrid model may be able to build upon strengths and mitigate against limitations of the other models. This may lead to a more robust, fair, effective youth justice system with improve holistic outcomes for young people.

From this research it is recommended that hybrid models of youth justice are beneficial. Due to the discussed limitations of each model, the use of multiple models together may mitigate against the limitations of strict adherence to one model. For example, youth justice systems that focus on all four models together results in a system that meets the due process rights of young people, holds them accountable through relational processes that can consider the holistic needs of both the young person and the victim, reducing re-offending and improving the wellbeing of the offender and society with positive reintegration. Risk may be considered however as a secondary measure due to the possible harm that can come with being labelled at risk and related stigma, net widening, and criminogenic effects. The age of criminal responsibility both regarding the youngest and oldest that are included in the youth justice system required further consideration. In line with scientific data related to development and decision-making continuing into the mid 20's, this age group should be considered for inclusion within the youth justice system until their development is that of adults. The ability to convict those under the age of criminal responsibility for certain offences, and some young people to adult prisons or the adult courts requires further exploration due to the criminogenic effects despite protections due to their age for more serious offences and unsuitable conditions for those sent to adult settings. In addition, the inclusion of 'at risk' children who have not offended and/or who are below the age of criminal responsibility in justice interventions even if through diversion programmes may have negative effects on the young persons wellbeing and future offending. This means that the inclusion of at-risk children who have not offended with the aim of preventing offending may be counterproductive. Although evidence-based interventions, data, and research to contribute to this evidence base are beneficial, too much focus on strict procedures based on evidence-based and cost-effective interventions should be used with caution. With the vast array of specific needs and situations of young people, adhering strictly to a 'textbook' intervention may not be in the best interests of all children and young people. With the increased focus on restorative practices over family group conferences in Ireland, consideration may be required for legislative amendments to have provisions for restorative practices, ensuring due process rights, proportionality and transparency in decision-making occurs in practice. Legislative amendments to consider better adherence to international children's rights obligations throughout all stages and avenues within youth justice may be

beneficial. Consideration to the availability of legal advice for children and young people should be considered throughout the diversion programmes rather than just prior to admitting responsibility. In addition, rather than the provision for legal advice to be sought by the child or their family within diversion in Ireland, advice and information may be required on the benefits of seeking legal advice including the possible negative future consequences.

References

An Garda Síochána. (2009) *Youth and children strategy 2009–2011*. Dublin: An Garda Síochána. Available from: http://www.garda.ie/ [Accessed 1 April 2023].

April, K., Schrader, S.W., Walker, T.E., Francis, R.M., Glynn, H. and Gordon, D.M. (2023) Conceptualizing juvenile justice reform: Integrating the public health, social ecological, and restorative justice models. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 148 Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2023.10688 [Accessed 21 July 2023].

Baglivio, M.T., Epps, N., Swartz, K., Huq, M.S., Sheer, A. and Hardt, N.S. (2014) The prevalence of adverse childhood experiences (ACE) in the lives of juvenile offenders. *Journal of juvenile justice*, 3(2). Available from:

https://www.posttraumaticsociety.com/s/Prevalence of ACE.pdf [Accessed 20 July 2023].

Bouffard, J., Cooper, M. and Bergseth, K. (2017) The effectiveness of various restorative justice interventions on recidivism outcomes among juvenile offenders. *Youth violence and juvenile justice*, 15(4), pp.465-480. Available from:

https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204016647428 [Accessed 3 July 2023].

Bradley, T., Tauri, J. and Walters, R. (2006) 'Demythologising Youth Justice in Aotearoa/New Zealand', in Muncie, J. and Goldson, B. (eds.) *Comparative youth justice: critical issues*. Sage, London. pp.79-95.

Braithwaite, J. (2002) Restorative justice and responsive regulation. Oxford University Press.

Braithwaite, J. (2003) 'Restorative Justice and a Better Future', in E. McLaughlin and Hughes, G. (eds.) *Restorative Justice: Critical Issues* (Vol.3) London: Sage Publications.

Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2013) Successful qualitative research: a practical guide for beginners. Los Angeles: SAGE.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006) Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research* in psychology, 3(2), pp.77-101. Available from:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa [Accessed 20 July 2023].

Bryman, A. (2001). Social Research Methods. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Burgess, R.L. and Akers, R.L. (1966) A differential association-reinforcement theory of criminal behavior. *Soc. Probs*, 14, pp.128. Available from:

https://heinonline.org/HOL/P?h=hein.journals/socprob14&i=134 [Accessed 16 June 2023].

Carr, N. and McAlister, S. (2014) Youth justice in Ireland north and south: Legacies of the past, influences on the present. *Youth Justice*, 14(3), pp.207-211. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/1473225414549691 [Accessed 22 July 2023].

Carroll, J., Meehan, E. and McPhillips, S. (2007) The children court: A national study. *Association for Criminal Justice Research and Development Limited*. Available from: https://www.acjrd.ie/images/PDFs/research/The_Children_Court_A_National_Study.pdf [Accessed 22 August 2023].

Case, S. (2007) Questioning the Evidence of risk that underpins evidence-led youth justice interventions. *Youth justice*, 7(2), pp.91-105. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1473225407078771 [Accessed 10 August 2023].

Case, S. and Hampson, K. (2019) Youth justice pathways to change: Drivers, challenges and opportunities. *Youth justice*, 19(1), pp.25-41. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1473225418822166 [Accessed 25 July 2023].

Case, S. and Hampson, K. (2019) Youth justice pathways to change: Drivers, challenges and opportunities. *Youth justice*, 19(1), pp.25-41. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1473225418822166 [Accessed 20 August 2023].

Christie, N.1977. Conflicts as property, *British Journal of Criminology*, 17(1) pp.1-15.

Clarke, V. & Braun, V. (2017) Thematic analysis. *The journal of positive psychology*, 12(3) pp.297-298. Available from: https://doi-org.may.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/17439760.2016.1262613 [Accessed 19 June 2023].

Cohen, S. (2002) *Folk Devils and Moral Panics*, 3rd edition. London: Routledge. Available from: https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203828250 [Accessed 4 August 2023].

Creswell, J. W. (2005) Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey.

Crotty, M. (1989) *The foundations of social research*, London: Sage.

Cunneen, C. (2014). Colonial processes, Indigenous peoples, and criminal justice systems. In T. Bucerius & M. Tonry (Eds.) *The Oxford handbook of ethnicity, crime, and immigration* Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press. Pp.386-407.

Cunneen, C., , B. and Russell, S. (2018) Human rights and youth justice reform in England and Wales: A systemic analysis. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 18(4), pp.405-430. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895817721957 [Accessed 22 June 2023].

Cunneen, C., Goldson, B. and Russell, S. (2018) Human rights and youth justice reform in England and Wales: A systemic analysis. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 18(4), pp.405-430. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895817721957 [Accessed 22 June 2023].

De Coster, S. (2012) Mothers' work and family roles, gender ideologies, distress, and parenting: Consequences for juvenile delinquency. *The Sociological Quarterly*, 53(4), pp.585-609. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1533-8525.2012.01253.x [Accessed 29 July 2023].

Denney, A.S. and Tewksbury, R. (2013) How to Write a Literature Review, *Journal of criminal justice education*, 24(2), pp.218-234. Available from: https://doi-org.may.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/10511253.2012.730617 [Accessed 1 June 2023].

Deuchar, R. and Sapouna, M. (2016) 'It's harder to go to court yourself because you don't really know what to expect': Reducing the negative effects of court exposure on young people—Findings from an Evaluation in Scotland. *Youth justice*, 16(2), pp.130-146. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1473225415606815 [Accessed 18 July 2023].

Dierkhising, C.B., Ko, S.J., Woods-Jaeger, B., Briggs, E.C., Lee, R. and Pynoos, R.S. (2013) Trauma histories among justice-involved youth: Findings from the National Child Traumatic Stress Network. *European journal of psychotraumatology*, 4(1). Available from: https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v4i0.20274 [Accessed 10 June 2023].

Doob, A.N. & Tonry, M. (2004) Varieties of Youth Justice, *Crime & Justice (Chicago, Ill)*, 31, pp.1-20. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1086/655333 [Accessed 1 July 2023].

Dyer, F. (2016) Young People in Court in Scotland. Glasgow: Centre for Youth and Criminal Justice. Available from: http://www.cycj.org.uk/ [Accessed 22 July 2023].

Farrington, D. (1996) Understanding and Preventing Youth Crime. *Social Policy Research Findings*, no. 93. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

Faryadi, Q. (2012) How to write your PhD proposal: A step-by-step guide. *American International Journal of Contemporary Research*, 2(4), pp.111-115. Available from: https://www.dr-qais.com/Qais%20Journal/PhD%20Proposal.pdf [Accessed 10 May 2023].

Faryadi, Q. (2018). PhD Thesis Writing Process: A Systematic Approach—How to Write Your Literature Review. *Creative Education*, 9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2018.916219 [Accessed 2 June 2023].

Ferdinand, T.N. (1991) History overtakes the juvenile justice system. *Crime & Delinquency*, 37(2), pp.204-224. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128791037002004 [Accessed 17 July 2023].

Fergusson, R. (2002) Rethinking youth transitions: Policy transfer and new exclusions in New Labour's New Deal. *Policy Studies*, 23(3), pp.173-190. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/0144287022000045975 [Accessed 22 July 2023].

Fergusson, R. (2007) Making sense of the melting pot: Multiple discourses in youth justice policy. *Youth Justice*, 7(3), pp.179-194. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1473225407082509 [Accessed 20 July 2023].

Fionda, J. (2005) Devils and angels: Youth, policy and crime. Hart.

Fite, P.J., Williford, A., Griffith, R.L. and Parker, K. (2021) August. Peer victimization among detained youth: The impact of callous-unemotional traits. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 50, pp.569-585. Springer US. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-020-09593-y [Accessed 20 August 2023].

Forde, L. & Swirak, K. (2023) The Development of the Irish Youth Justice System: Toward a Children's Rights Model of Youth Justice? *Journal of contemporary criminal justice*, 39(1), pp.114-132. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/10439862221138682 [Accessed 1 August 2023].

Forde, L. (2021) Welfare, justice, and diverse models of youth justice: A children's rights analysis. *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, 29(4), pp.920-945. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1163/15718182-29040005 [Accessed 20 July 2023].

Forde, L. (2022) Compliance with international children's rights in the youth justice system. Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Probation. Available from: https://bura.brunel.ac.uk/handle/2438/24684 [Accessed 20 July 2023].

Frith, H., & Gleeson, K. (2004). Clothing and embodiment: men managing body image and appearance. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 5(1), pp. 40-48. Available from: https://doi:10.1037/1524-9220.5.1.40 [Accessed 24 June 2023].

Garland, D. (1996) The limits of the sovereign state: Strategies of crime control in contemporary society. The British journal of criminology, 36(4), pp.445-471. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.bjc.a014105 [Accessed 10 July 2023].

Goldson, B. and Cunneen, C. (2019) *Youth justice and penality in comparative context*, 1st. edn, Routledge, London.

Grisso, T., Steinberg, L., Woolard, J., Cauffman, E., Scott, E., Graham, S., Lexcen, F., Reppucci, N.D. and Schwartz, R. (2003) Juveniles' competence to stand trial: A comparison of adolescents' and adults' capacities as trial defendants. *Law and human behavior*, 27, pp.333-363. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024065015717 [Accessed 20 August 2023].

Hamilton, C. (2016) *Reconceptualising penality: A comparative perspective on punitiveness in Ireland, Scotland and New Zealand.* Routledge.

Hamilton, C., Fitzgibbon, W. and Carr, N. (2016) Punishment, youth justice and cultural contingency: Towards a balanced approach. *Youth Justice*, 16(3), pp.226-245. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1473225415619500 [Accessed 29 August 2023].

Hartjen, C.A. (2008) Youth, crime, and justice: A global inquiry. Rutgers University Press.

Hazell, N. (2008) Cross-national Comparison of Youth Justice. *London: Youth Justice Board*. Available from: https://salford-repository.worktribe.com/OutputFile/1490028 [Accessed 20 August 2023].

Hinton, W.J., Sims, P.L., Adams, M.A. and West, C. (2007) Juvenile justice: A system divided. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 18(4), pp.466-483. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/0887403407304578 [Accessed 12 June 2023].

Hoberg, G. (2001) *Globalization and policy convergence: symposium overview*. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/13876980108412657 [Accessed 10 May 2023].

Hoeve, M., Dubas, J.S., Eichelsheim, V.I., Van der Laan, P.H., Smeenk, W. and Gerris, J.R. (2009) The relationship between parenting and delinquency: A meta-analysis. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 37, pp.749-775. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-009-9310-8 [Accessed 29 July 2023].

Holloway, I. and Todres, L. (2003) The status of method: flexibility, consistency and coherence. *Qualitative research*, 3(3), pp.345-357. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794103033004 [Accessed 22 June 2023].

Huls, E., Rap, S. and van den Brink, Y. (2022) Responses to Serious Offending by Children in Northwestern Europe. *Responses to Serious Offending by Children*. Routledge. pp.174-184.

Judge, J.S. (2015) Youth Justice. Making Rights Real for Children: A Children's Rights Audit of Irish Law. *Children's Rights Alliance and Law Centre for Children and Young People*. Available from:

https://www.childrensrights.ie/sites/default/files/submissions_reports/files/MakingRightsReal 2015.pdf [Accessed 10 August 2023].

Karstedt, S. (2015) Cultural peers and penal policies: A configurational approach toward mapping penal landscapes. *Punishment & Society*, 17(3), pp.374-396. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1462474515590890 [Accessed 12 August 2023].

Kempf-Leonard, K. and Peterson, E.S. (2000) Expanding realms of the new penology: The advent of actuarial justice for juveniles. *Punishment & Society*, 2(1), pp.66-97. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/14624740022227863 [Accessed 10 August 2023].

Kilkelly, U. (2006) Youth Justice in Ireland: Tough Lives, Rough Justice. Dublin: Irish Academic Press.

Kilkelly, U. (2011) Policing, young people, diversion and accountability in Ireland", *Crime, law, and social change*, 55(2-3), pp.133-151. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10611-011-9275-8 [Accessed 22 July 2023].

Kilkelly, U. (2014) Diverging or Emerging from the Law? The Practice of Youth Justice in Ireland. *Youth Justice*, 14(3), pp.212-225. Available from:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/1473225414549692 [Accessed 27 May 2023].

Lester, J. N., Cho, Y., & Lochmiller, C. R. (2020) Learning to Do Qualitative Data Analysis: A Starting Point. *Human Resource Development Review*, 19(1), 94-106. https://doi-org.may.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/1534484320903890 [Accessed 19 July 2023].

Levine, M., Eagle, A., Tuiavi'i, S. and Roseveare, C. (1997) Creative youth justice practice. *Social Policy Agency and Children, Young Persons and Their Families Service*. Available

from: https://www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/journals-and-magazines/social-policy-journal/spj11/spj11-creative-youth-justice.doc [Accessed 29 July 2023].

Loeber, R. and Stouthamer-Loeber, M. (1998) Development of juvenile aggression and violence: Some common misconceptions and controversies. *American psychologist*, 53(2), pp.242. Available from: https://doi/10.1037/0003-066X.53.2.242 [Accessed 1 June 2023].

Lynch, N. (2008) Youth justice in New Zealand: A children's rights perspective. *Youth Justice*, 8(3), pp.215-228. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1473225408096461 [Accessed 10 July 2023]. Lynch, N. (2010) Restorative justice through a children's rights lens. The International Journal of Children's Rights, 18(2), pp.161-183. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1163/157181810X12592206285646 [Accessed 16 July 2023].

Lynch, N. (2012) Playing catch-up? Recent reform of New Zealand's youth justice system. Criminology & Criminal Justice, 12(5), pp.507-526. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895811432013 [Accessed 10 July 2023].

Lynch, N. and Liefaard, T. (2020). What is Left in the 'Too Hard Basket'?: Developments and Challenges for the Rights of Children in Conflict with the Law, *International Journal of Children's Rights*, 28(1), pp.89-110. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1163/15718182-02801007 [Accessed 24 July 2023].

MacRae, A. (2004) Little book of family group conferences new zealand style: a hopeful approach when youth cause harm. Simon and Schuster.

Marshall, C., and G. B. Rossman. (1989) *Designing qualitative research*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Maxwell, G. and Poppelwell, E. (2003) Youth Court Offending Rates: Final Report to the Department for Courts. Wellington, NZ: *Crime and Justice Research Centre*, Victoria University of Wellington. Available from:

https://www.waitangitribunal.govt.nz/assets/rates0103.pdf [Accessed 24 July 2023].

Maxwell, G., Robertson, J. and Anderson, T. (2002) Police Youth Diversion: Final Report. Wellington: *New Zealand Police/Ministry of Justice and Crime and Justice Research Centre* Victoria University of Wellington.

Maxwell, G.M., Kingi, V.M., Robertson, J.P., Morris, A., Cunningham, C. and Lash, B. (2004) Achieving effective outcomes in youth justice. Wellington: *Ministry of Social Development*. Available from: http://msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/archive/2004-achieving-effective-outcomes-youth-justice-full-report.pdf [Accessed 15 July 2023].

McAra, L. (2012) Models of youth justice. In Smith, D.J. (eds.) *A new response to youth crime*, Routledge, Abingdon, Oxon. pp.304-334.

McAra, L. and McVie, S. (2007) Youth justice? The impact of system contact on patterns of desistance from offending. *European journal of criminology*, 4(3), pp.315-345. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1477370807077186 [Accessed 10 July 2023].

McAra, L. and McVie, S. (2010). Youth crime and justice: Key messages from the Edinburgh Study of Youth Transitions and Crime, *Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 10(2), pp.179-209. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895809360971 [Accessed 10 June 2023].

McElrea, F.W. (1994) Restorative justice: the New Zealand Youth Court: a model for development in other courts? *Journal of Judicial Administration*, 4(1), pp.33-54. Available from: https://www.napierlibrary.co.nz/assets/Judge-McElrea/Rethinking-punishment-DCJJ-199404.pdf [Accessed 27 July 2023].

McGarrell, E.F. and Hipple, N.K. (2007) Family group conferencing and re-offending among first-time juvenile offenders: The Indianapolis experiment. *Justice Quarterly*, 24(2), pp.221-246. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/07418820701294789 [Accessed 27 June 2023].

McKewen, M., Skippen, P., Cooper, P.S., Wong, A.S., Michie, P.T., Lenroot, R. and Karayanidis, F. (2019) Does cognitive control ability mediate the relationship between reward-related mechanisms, impulsivity, and maladaptive outcomes in adolescence and young adulthood? *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience*, 19(3), pp.653-676. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3758/s13415-019-00722-2 [Accessed 9 January 2023].

McNulty, B. (2005) The Introduction of Family Conferencing to the Probation and Welfare Service. *The Irish Probation Journal*, 1(1), pp.42-50. Available from: https://www.probation.ie [Accessed 1 June 2023].

McVie, S. (2011) Alternative models of youth justice: lessons from Scotland and Northern Ireland. *Journal of children's services*, 6(2), pp.106-114. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1108/17466661111149402 [Accessed 10 July 2023].

Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994) *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Morris, A. (2004) Youth Justice in New Zealand. *Crime and Justice*, 31, pp.243-292. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1086/655340 [Accessed 1 May 2023].

Morris, A., Maxwell, G.M. and Shepherd, P.J. (1997) Being a youth advocate: An analysis of their role and responsibilities. *Institute of Criminology for Victoria Link*. Available from: http://www.nzlii.org/nz/journals/NZLFRRp/1997/3.html [Accessed 23 June 2023].

Moyle, P. (2013). From family group conferencing to whānau ora: Māori social workers talk about their experiences: a thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Social Work in Social Work at Massey University, Manawatu, Aotearoa New Zealand. Available from: http://hdl.handle.net/10179/4731 [Accessed 19 July 2023].

Moyle, P. and Tauri, J.M. (2016) Māori, family group conferencing and the mystifications of restorative justice. *Victims & Offenders*, 11(1), pp.87-106. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/15564886.2015.1135496 [Accessed 1 June 2023].

Muncie, J. (2001) Policy transfers and 'what works': Some reflections on comparative youth justice. *Youth Justice*, 1(3), pp.27-35. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/147322540100100304 [Accessed 10 July 2023].

Muncie, J. (2005). The globalization of crime control the case of youth and juvenile justice: neo-liberalism, policy convergence and international conventions. *Theoretical Criminology*, 9(1), 35-64. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1362480605048942 [Accessed 10 July 2023].

Muncie, J. (2015) In Goldson, B. and Muncie, J. (eds.) 2015. Youth crime and justice. Sage.

Norwell, L.S., Norris, J.M., White, D.E. and Moules, N.J. (2017) Thematic analysis: striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. J. *Qualitative Methods*, 16, pp.1–13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847 [Accessed 24 July 2023].

O'Connor, J. (2019) Reflections on the justice and welfare debate for children in the youth justice system. *Irish Judicial Studies Journal*, 3, pp.19-39. Available from: https://www.ijsj.ie/assets/uploads/documents/2.%20John%20O'Connor.pdf [Accessed 1 August 2023].

Olsen, T., Maxwell, G. and Morris, A. (1995) Maori and youth justice in New Zealand. In Hazlehurst, K.M. (eds.) *Popular justice and community regeneration: Pathways of Indigenous reform.* Bloomsbury Publishing: USA. pp.55-60.

Patton, M. Q. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods* (2nd ed.). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Paus, T., Keshavan, M. and Giedd, J.N. (2008) Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence? *Nature reviews neuroscience*, 9(12), pp.947-957. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2513 [Accessed 9 January 2023].

Pavelka, S. and Thomas, D. (2019) The evolution of balanced and restorative justice. *Juvenile and Family Court Journal*, 70(1), pp.37-58. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/jfcj.12125 [Accessed 9 July 2023].

Petanjek, Z., Judaš, M., Šimić, G., Rašin, M.R., Uylings, H.B., Rakic, P. and Kostović, I. (2011) Extraordinary neoteny of synaptic spines in the human prefrontal cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(32), pp.13281-13286. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1105108108 [Accessed 9 January 2023].

Pople, L. and Smith, D.J. (2012) Time trends in youth crime and in justice system responses. In Smith, D. (eds.) *A new response to youth crime*. Routledge. Willan. (pp. 71-120).

Richards, K., Bartels, L. and Bolitho, J. (2017) Children's court magistrates' views of restorative justice and therapeutic jurisprudence measures for young offenders. *Youth Justice*, 17(1), pp.22-40. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1473225416665612 [Accessed 15 July 2023].

Ridley, D. (2008) *The literature review: A step-by-step guide for students*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Rose, R. (1991) What is lesson-drawing? *Journal of public policy*, 11(1), pp.3-30. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0143814X0000491 [Accessed 18 July 2023].

Scott, E.S. and Grisso, T. (2004) Developmental incompetence, due process, and juvenile justice policy. *NCL Review*, 83, pp.793. Available from:

https://heinonline.org/HOL/P?h=hein.journals/nclr83&i=807 [Accessed 20 August 2023].

Seymour, M. (2017) Ireland. In Decker, S.H. and Marteache, N. (eds.) *International Handbook of Juvenile Justice*. Springer International Publishing. pp.327-344.

Smith, D.J. and Ecob, R. (2007) An investigation into causal links between victimization and offending in adolescents. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 58(4), pp.633-659. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-4446.2007.00169.x [Accessed 22 August 2023].

Smith, R. and Gray, P. (2019) The changing shape of youth justice: Models of practice. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 19(5), pp.554-571. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895818781199 [Accessed 22 July 2023].

Spier, P. and Lash, B. (2004) *Conviction and Sentencing of Offenders in New Zealand: 1994-2003*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Justice. Available from

Steinberg, L. (2009) Adolescent development and juvenile justice. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, 5, pp.459-485. Available from:

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.032408.153603 [Accessed 1 June 2023].

Steinberg, L., Blatt-Eisengard, I. and Cauffman E. (2006) Patterns of competence and adjustment among adolescents from authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent, and neglectful homes: A replication in a sample of serious juvenile offenders. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 16(1), pp.47–58. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2006.00119.x [Accessed 30 July 2023].

Suzuki, M. and Wood, W. (2017) Restorative justice. *The Palgrave Handbook of Australian and New Zealand Criminology, Crime and Justice*, pp.393-406. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-55747-2_26 [Accessed 19 June 2023].

Tuckett, A. G. (2005) Applying thematic analysis theory to practice: A researcher's experience. *Contemporary Nurse*, 19(1-2), pp.75-87. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.19.1-2.75 [Accessed 20 July2023].

Tyler, T.R. and Trinkner, R. (2017) Why children follow rules: Legal socialization and the development of legitimacy. Oxford University Press.

UN Committee on the Rights of the Child (2007). *General Comment No. 10: Children's rights in juvenile justice*. CRC/C/GC/10.

United Nations General Assembly. (1985). The standard minimum rules on the administration of juvenile justice (the Beijing Rules), adopted by general assembly resolution 40/33 of 29 November 1985. New York: United Nations.

Van Ness, Daniel, Allison Morris, and Gabrielle Maxwell. (2001) Introducing Restorative Justice. In Morris, A. and Maxwell, G. (eds.) *Restorative justice for juveniles: Conferencing, mediation and circles*.1st edn, Hart Publishing, Oxford; Portland, Oregon. pp.3-16.

Von Hirsch, A., (1976) *Doing justice: The choice of punishments* (p. 73). New York: Hill and Wang.

Walsh, D. (2005) Juvenile justice. *Department of Justice, Equality and Law Reform*. Round Hall: Dublin.

Watt, E. (2003) A history of youth justice in New Zealand. *Court in the Act*, 6. Available from: https://www.waitangitribunal.govt.nz/assets/Youth-Court-History-of-the-Youth-Court.pdf [Accessed 12 May 2023].

Weijers, I. (2004) Requirements for communication in the courtroom: A comparative perspective on the youth court in England/Wales and the Netherlands. *Youth Justice*, 4(1), pp.22-31. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/147322540400400103 [Accessed 19 August 2023].

Weinberger, D.R., Elvevåg, B. and Giedd, J.N. (2005) The adolescent brain. Washington, DC: *National Campaign to Prevent Teen Pregnancy*, 1, pp.10-12. Available from: http://www.kvccdocs.com/KVCC/2018-Summer/PSY215/lessons/L-19/adol-brain.pdf [Accessed 1 August 2023].

White, R. (2003) Communities, conferences and restorative social justice. *Criminal Justice*, 3(2), pp.139-160. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1466802503003002001 [Accessed 22 August 2023].

Zehr, H. and Mika, H. (1998) 'Fundamental Concepts of Restorative Justice', *Contemporary Justice Review*, 1, pp.47-55. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9781351150125-4 [Accessed 20 August 2023].

Appendix 1

Justice	Justice based	"Widening the jurisdiction of the Youth Court to include 12- and 13-year-olds who commit serious offences." (YCAP, g.52)
Welfare	Youth needs and wellbeing	"Young people in conflict with the law will be treated as children first" YJS pg. 7 " overall strategy for achieving the government's objective for Māori health, YCAP pg. 55
Restorative	Restorative practices	"Strengthen and extend restorative justice practice" YJAP Pg. 23
Actuarial	Evidence based	" roll out of a range of evidence-based programmes and initiatives" YCAP, pg. 52